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Dear Shareholders of Biglari Holdings Inc.:

The Biglari Holdings collection of businesses was built company by company. Our operating
businesses are the keystone of the corporation’s arch, and our central aim is to build per-share intrinsic value
guided by opportunity.! The growth of Biglari Holdings has been an entrepreneurial odyssey that has led to
the creation of a multifaceted enterprise.

The growing collection of operating companies began in 2008, when present management gained
control of Steak n Shake, the business that became the nucleus of the holding company. Over the years, we
added Western Sizzlin Corporation, Maxim Inc., First Guard Insurance Company, Southern Oil Company,
and Southern Pioneer Property & Casualty Insurance Company, listed in order of acquisition. We do not
integrate subsidiary operations — just their profits. In 2021, Biglari Holdings garnered pre-tax operating
earnings of $24.9 million from its six first-line businesses.

Under the aegis of the holding company, our mosaic of businesses operate independently from one
another and, to a great extent, from the parent company. The basic idea is to scale the enterprise by combining
many profitable concerns into one dynamic corporation while maintaining a small staff at headquarters. To
meet our objective, we generally avoid turnaround opportunities despite the fact that Biglari Holdings’ own
creation began with the successful turnaround of a failing restaurant operation. Our interest lies in acquiring
healthy businesses with robust economics. Unlike those who specialize in the purchase and operation of
turnaround businesses, we have no desire to become a hospital for sick companies.

Our management system combines decentralized operations with centralized financial decision-
making. For instance, the insurance subsidiaries we acquired continue to be overseen by the same families
responsible for their founding. Both companies have retained their management teams, their headquarters,
and their names. Our contribution to their operations has been to stay out of the way. By adhering to a basic
creed of extreme autonomy, we pursue an expansionist course while avoiding the common nonsense of
bureaucracy.

The vast majority of acquisitive competitors, whether private equity firms or strategic buyers, are
unable or unwilling to offer the continuity of management and the permanency of ownership that we seek.
The gulf between many buyers’ rhetoric and reality remains a very real danger for sellers who care about
their business and their people. By contrast, Biglari Holdings creates a rare environment for those with whom
it associates. Most owner-operators would not work for anyone but themselves, and most are independently
wealthy, with no financial need to work. They do not view their business as work but as a creative endeavor.
Hence, our economic museum becomes an ideal place for entrepreneurial founders to keep painting their
masterpieces. The upshot: They possess an uncommon commitment to their respective operations and to
Biglari Holdings.

Whereas our subsidiaries operate in their respective theaters, the holding company itself spans the
business spectrum. Our corporate structure is justified when our acquired business units function better than
they did when operating independently, and when our ownership improves capital allocation. Naturally, an
operating business may have limited reinvestment opportunities. Because we are under no constraint to
reinvest money where it was earned, any portion of earnings a business unit is unable to utilize at a
satisfactory rate is distributed to Biglari Holdings, to be redeployed elsewhere to grow our shareholders’
wealth.

! Intrinsic value is measured by taking all future cash flows into and out of the business and discounting the net figures
at an appropriate interest rate.



The corporation’s business architecture is formidable. By design, it allows us to buy businesses to
make money, which in turn allows us to buy more businesses to make even more money. The group of
businesses assembled over the years did not follow a well laid-out blueprint but developed from a few basic
ideas fixed firmly in our minds. For one, we have an old-fashioned respect for cash — lots of it, dispatched
by the subsidiaries to the parent corporation for reallocation. We also hold dear the precept that opportunity
rather than any preordained notion dictates capital allocation, such that flexibility is one of our greatest
strengths. Major capital allocation decisions remain in the hands of your Chairman, which circumvents the
disadvantages of decision by committee, consultation, or consensus.

The freedom to build the company in any way we choose makes the course we chart a fundamentally
creative process. From this vantage point, the enterprise is analogous to a work of art. Although I have a
clean canvas on which to paint and a nearly unlimited palette of colors from which to choose, last year I
used the paintbrush only sparingly, and solely in the purchase of partial business ownership through the
stock market.

When seeking total ownership of a business, we narrow the acquisition possibilities to companies
whose future economic prospects we can evaluate, a condition that eliminates a great many of them,
especially those in rapidly changing industries. Despite our proclivity for operating in prosaic industries, we
still endure dull stretches of inactivity, because in every potential business purchase we seek strong
economics, sound management, and a sensible price.

Fortunately, we are not limited to negotiated transactions exclusively, as the stock market provides
an array of opportunities for partial business ownership. Indeed, we constantly compare one investment
alternative against a multitude of others in determining capital utilization. As a consequence of our seizing
remunerative business and investment opportunities over the past thirteen years, Biglari Holdings’ cash and
investments grew from $1.6 million to $599.6 million — even while allocating funds toward the acquisition
of businesses. In the tabulation below is the year-by-year development of cash and investments. The third
column represents our interests in two affiliated investment partnerships, The Lion Fund, L.P., and The Lion
Fund I, L.P., which throughout this letter will be referred to as The Lion Fund.

(In Millions)
Cash and Marketable Total
Cash Equivalents Securities The Lion Fund Investments

2008 ... $ 1.6 $ - $ - $ 1.6
2009 ..o 514 3.0 — 54.4
2010 i 47.6 32.5 38.6 118.7
2011 i 99.0 115.3 38.5 252.8
2012 i 60.4 269.9 48.3 378.6
2013 e 94.6 85.5 4553 635.4
2014 o 124.3 21.5 620.8 766.6
2015 e 56.5 23.8 734.7 815.0
2016 i 75.8 26.8 972.7 1,075.3
2017 i 58.6 27.7 925.3 1,011.6
2018 e 48.6 38.3 715.1 802.0
2019 i 67.8 44.9 666.1 778.8
2020 i 24.5 94.9 590.9 710.3
2021t 423 83.1 474.2 599.6

Notes: The years 2015 through 2021 were calendar years. The years 2009 through 2014 were fiscal years that ended on the last
Wednesday in September. The 2008 data is for the fiscal quarter ending on July 2, 2008, the nearest fiscal quarter prior to present
management assuming control. Biglari Holdings’ investments in The Lion Fund, L.P., and The Lion Fund II, L.P., do not include other limited
partners’ interests.



There was a reduction in total investments in 2021 because we paid off Steak n Shake’s $152.5
million of debt. As a result, the entire enterprise — the holding company and its operating businesses —
carries no debt. Debt per se is neither desirable nor undesirable. The inherent stability of operations must
dictate the soundness of the debt structure. Broadly speaking, capital structure risk should vary inversely
with business risk. We have arranged our affairs to withstand unforeseen economic chaos and market shocks.
We are not opposed to injecting moderate leverage into the balance sheet, but only when there is no
possibility of it threatening the well-being of the corporation. Although we do not predict adversity, we do
prepare for it. Where others see only sunshine, we plan for thunderstorms.

We have built the company with our earnings. Over the last thirteen years, our aggregate pre-tax
earnings from operations and investments (excluding our own stock) total $691.2 million. Any money we
borrowed, we paid back. And any Biglari Holdings stock we issued, we purchased in greater quantity through
The Lion Fund to hold as investments.

If The Lion Fund distributed the shares of Biglari Holdings it owns to its limited partners, the parent
company’s shares outstanding would be reduced to 304,081 Class A equivalents.” Correspondingly, the
value of total investments would be adjusted to $375.8 million, which is the carrying value as opposed to
the fair value ($599.6 million) presented in the preceding table. (The difference between fair value and
carrying value is the sum of Biglari Holdings stock owned by the corporation through The Lion Fund.) From
this perspective, the 304,081 Class A equivalent shares at year-end 2021 are comparable to 424,325 shares
outstanding on July 2, 2008, the fiscal quarter-end prior to the time present management assumed
responsibility.

Continuing this approach in regard to share count, which adheres to generally accepted accounting
principles, at year-end 2021, the per-share book value of our Class A stock was $1,933. Book value, or net
worth, represents owners’ capital, as shown on the financial statements; the accounting figure is reached by
adding all assets and subtracting all liabilities. In effect, book value represents what has been put into the
business, which in our case is mainly retained earnings. But what really matters — the sine qua non of wealth
creation — is intrinsic value, a present-value estimate of cash that can be taken out of the business. As we
never tire of repeating, we measure progress based on per-share intrinsic value.

Two components are critical in evaluating the company: its investments and its operating businesses.
At year-end, our total investments per share stood at $1,236. And our 2021 pre-tax operating earnings per
share were $76.31, which excludes the dividends, interest, and capital gains produced by our investments. It
is as if Biglari Holdings were split in two, with one side holding the corporation’s investments (cash,
marketable securities, and investments in The Lion Fund) and the other its operating businesses, where all
interest and corporate expenses are incurred.

In 2008, we began with a restaurant base that was generating operating losses; it held $4 of cash per
share but also $63 of debt per share. Over the ensuing thirteen years — that is, since present management
took control — we have acquired five businesses through negotiated transactions, paid in cash, and allocated
funds toward investments. During this time, Biglari Holdings transformed large losses into earnings, grew
investments substantially, and eliminated the debt. Phil Cooley, Vice Chairman of Biglari Holdings, and I
will do our best to achieve satisfactory growth in both operations and investments, as measured in decades
and on a per-share basis.

2 All per-share figures used in this report apply to Biglari Holdings® A shares. The B shares have an economic interest
equal to 1/5th that of the A shares.



Our corporate performance is the result of cash generated by operating subsidiaries along with capital
allocation work, which according to our criterion must outdo the S&P 500 Index. Because of our rate of
progress in operations and investments over the past thirteen years, we believe Biglari Holdings’ gain in per-
share intrinsic value has far outstripped the S&P 500.

Investments

By the end 0f 2021, total investments (cash, marketable securities, and Biglari Holdings’ investments
in The Lion Fund) amounted to $599.6 million; most of that sum came from investment profits. Our
investment activities are largely conducted through The Lion Fund, whose origin dates from the year 2000
when I founded it.

Through The Lion Fund, we have invested the corporation’s capital, your capital, in select common
stocks. At year-end, The Lion Fund’s largest common stock holding was Cracker Barrel Old Country Store,
Inc. We originally purchased 4,737,794 shares of Cracker Barrel for $241.1 million from May 2011 through
December 2012, with a dollar-weighted purchase date of December 2011. Between 2018 and 2019, The
Lion Fund reduced its holding in Cracker Barrel to 2,000,000 shares. In March 2020, however, Biglari
Holdings purchased an additional 55,141 shares for its insurance subsidiaries. All in all, we now control
8.8% of Cracker Barrel’s outstanding stock at an average cost per share of $51.25.

By year-end 2021, we received proceeds of $471.1 million from the sale of Cracker Barrel stock,
$227.4 million in dividends and derivative gains, plus we held a remaining stake of $264.4 million in market
value. In sum, over a ten-year period, our investment in Cracker Barrel of $245.5 million turned into
$962.9 million in value.

Our stock selection is not predicated on the judgment of others but on our own. It takes an
independent mind to assess value and arrive at well-founded conclusions that may differ from those in vogue.
Our investment style, which is logical to us but also unconventional, centers on concentrating holdings for
the very long term. If our reasoning is superior, so too will be our investment results.

To compensate for our ignorance of the future, our attention is focused on business prospects, not
market prospects. We shun market analysis because we cannot predict the near-term direction of the stock
market, the economy, or interest rates. By restricting ourselves to business valuation, we remove significant
analytical baggage from the equation. In essence, we employ a similar approach to buying stocks as we do
to buying businesses, because stocks are business purchases too, just partial rather than whole. When we
find a marketable stock that meets our criteria, we concentrate the employment of capital.

We are owners of businesses, not speculators in stocks. We engage in investment, which is the
exchange of our cash for the present value of future cash flows. Even so, we live in a world populated by
speculators whose primary interest is making money easily and swiftly by attempting to predict short-term
changes in stock prices. With the epidemic of speculation, the true investor is in the minority.

Regardless of how others behave, we resolutely disregard any approach that lacks a logical path to
value. For anyone deploying capital without the rational expectation of future cash flows, slot machines
would do just as well. In 1776, Adam Smith captured a central aspect of human nature in his seminal book
Wealth of Nations: “The overweening conceit which the greater part of men have of their own abilities is an
ancient evil remarked by the philosophers and moralists of all ages. Their absurd presumption in their own
good fortune has been less taken notice of.” Times change but man’s desire for quick riches, and his tendency
to overestimate his abilities, remains the same. Yet the market instability borne of speculation can be
exploited, transferring wealth from the hopeful speculator to the knowledgeable investor.



Biglari Holdings had a $474.2 million investment in The Lion Fund at the end of 2021. In addition,
the corporation had $83.1 million in marketable securities outside the partnerships. The company’s
investments, including those made through affiliated partnerships and subsidiaries, exclude deferred income
taxes on unrealized gains. As is evident in Biglari Holdings’ financial statements, we would owe taxes of
$45.4 million if all investments were sold at year-end values. The tax liability, we regard, is tantamount to
an interest-free loan from the government for the company’s benefit. We are gaining the upside of leverage
without its associated downside. Hence, we control $45.4 million more in assets funded by liabilities carrying
no cost, no covenants, and no maturity date — except the loan must be paid as assets are sold. Plainly, the
character of deferred tax liabilities is a source of value.

Operating Businesses

Biglari Holdings has six major controlled businesses, each 100%-owned: Steak n Shake, Western
Sizzlin, Maxim, First Guard, Southern Oil, and Southern Pioneer. To better convey the performance of the
entire corporation, we have rearranged the consolidated data to reflect the way Phil and I think about Biglari
Holdings’ disparate businesses. The following table exhibits a breakdown of our earnings. Naturally, the
total net earnings shown in the table conform to those in our audited financial statements.

(In 000’s)
2021 2020
Operating Earnings:
Restaurant Operations:
Steak n Shake ......coooeviriiieiiiieeeeee, $§ 13,524 $  (4,587)
Western SizzIlin ........cccoovvviviiiiiiiieiiecceees 931 (765)
Insurance Operations:
Underwriting—First Guard ..........ccccovvvevvennennen. 10,573 9,379
Underwriting—Southern Pioneer ........................ 1,744 620
Investment Income and Other .............cccveeeennen.. 2,118 2,432
MAXIIN. ..o 814 1,784
Southern Oil........cooooiviiiiiiiieieeeeeeeeeeeeee e 9,713 2,018
Corporate and Other ............occeevierienienieieee, (13,383) (12,432)
Interest EXPense. .....c..oevvveviieeiiieeiie e (1,121) (9,262)
Operating Earnings Before Taxes........cccocevveveviieneennen. 24913 (10,813)
INCOME TaAXES...ccuvieeiieeiieeieeeeee e 3,166 (2,453)
Net Operating Earnings .........ccccceevveveeveenieenieeieenenn, 21,747 (8,360)
Investment Gains/LOSSES”.........cccovevevevevririiiiiranaans 13,731 (29,629)
Total Net Barnings.........cocvoveeeieveiereineeeiereseseeenenenns $ 35478 $ (37,989)

* Investment gains/losses are reported on an after-tax basis and include real estate gains and unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in
market prices on investments in equity securities as well as changes in the value of The Lion Fund partnerships.



Our reported earnings are materially affected by the volatility in the carrying value of The Lion Fund
and other investments. Yet we are indifferent to variability in reported earnings triggered by the accounting
of these investments. Of course, over the very long term, profits from investments and profits from
operations are equally important. However, yearly fluctuation in the value of investments makes those
figures meaningless for analytical purposes. As such, the vagaries of our investment performance obscure
our operating performance. To correct the resultant distortions in our earnings figures, we simply separate
changes in investment values from the earnings of the operating businesses when we report Biglari Holdings’
results.

In 2021, the corporation had net operating earnings of $21.7 million. Each of the six business units
produced a profit. It is our policy that every subsidiary must hold the prospect of generating long-term
earnings for it to remain a permanent constituent of Biglari Holdings. To date, we have not sold a single
operating subsidiary, nor have we had any intention of doing so.

To fully assess the economic performance of the corporation, the logical approach for shareholders
to take is to review the performance of each major operating subsidiary.

Restaurant Operations

Our restaurant operations consist of Steak n Shake and Western Sizzlin for a combined 577 units.
However, their business models differ. Steak n Shake, with 536 locations, is primarily engaged in company-
operated and nonconventional franchise restaurants. Western Sizzlin, on the other hand, is a traditional
royalty-based franchise business, with 41 units — all but 3 are franchisee-run.

Western Sizzlin Corporation

Biglari Holdings acquired Western Sizzlin on March 30, 2010, for a net purchase price of
$21.7 million. The acquisition included $2 million of marketable securities and undeveloped real estate
purchased in 2007 for $3.8 million. Western Sizzlin has been a success because of Robyn Mabe, the
company’s CEO. Phil and I became involved with the company in 2006, and the best managerial decision
we made was putting Robyn in charge of the chain. She converted a haphazard buffet business into a coherent
operation that generates dependable, distributable profits. Through year-end 2021, Western Sizzlin’s cash
distributions to Biglari Holdings totaled $26.6 million.

Steak n Shake Inc.
Steak n Shake is back in the black.

In recent years, Steak n Shake was struggling. From 2018 to 2020, its aggregate pre-tax loss before
corporate interest was $33.8 million. Its notable business problems are now in the rearview mirror, and the
company is once more a profitable operation. In 2021, Steak n Shake produced pre-tax operating earnings
before corporate interest of $13.5 million.

The ownership of Steak n Shake has been a net cash generator for Biglari Holdings. In 2008, we
started with a company that had $1.6 million in cash, owned 164 properties, and carried $27.0 million of
debt. At year-end 2021, Steak n Shake owned 166 properties and carried no debt. Over the past thirteen
years, the chain has generated net cash of about $150 million for the parent company, which employed it
gainfully elsewhere.



Here is a recap of the company’s performance since fiscal 2008.

(Dollars in 000’s)

Number of Number of
Company- Number of Traditional Total
Operating Operated Franchise Franchise Number
Earnings Units Partner Units Units of Units
2008 ... $ (30,754) 423 - 75 498
2009 ... 11,473 412 - 73 485
2010 e, 38,316 412 - 71 483
2011 e 41,247 413 - 76 489
2012 e 45,622 414 - 83 497
2013 e 28,376 415 - 104 519
2014 o 26,494 416 — 124 540
2015 i, 39,749 417 — 144 561
2016 e, 34,717 417 - 173 590
2017 cveieiieeeen 431 415 — 200 615
2018 e (10,657) 411 2 213 626
2019 i, (18,575) 368 29 213 610
2020 .. (4,587) 276 86 194 556
2021 e, 13,524 199 159 178 536

Notes: The years 2015 through 2021 were calendar years. The years 2008 through 2014 were fiscal years that ended on the last Wednesday in September-.

As I explained in last year’s report, Steak n Shake was in an era of radical transformation. Change
was necessary because Steak n Shake was built in the 20th century on a 20th-century business model. The
company suffered from labor-intensive table service combined with outmoded kitchen equipment in its
production line. Simply put, the economics of a full service model offering high-quality, low-priced burgers
and shakes did not work in the modern era. Therefore, after 86 years in business, Steak n Shake eliminated
table service. Today, customers in the dining room order at a kiosk rather than at a counter or with a server.
They could also use our app, which I recommend you download if you have not already. Try it and I will
throw in one of our legendary milkshakes with a cherry on top.

Since its birth in 1934, Steak n Shake has had a pairing customers love: the Steakburger and
milkshake. We needed to discard any elements that prevented us from delivering our famous burgers and
shakes with fast, hospitable service at a great value. Michelangelo is quoted as saying, “The sculpture is
already complete within the marble block, before I start my work. I just have to chisel away the superfluous
material.” Likewise, we removed the superfluous elements, from breakfast items and chicken sandwiches to
silverware and table service, to name a few, in order to sculpt a better business model. We Michelangelo’ed
Steak n Shake.

Transforming the business required approximately $50 million in capital expenditures. Through
year-end 2021 we spent $40 million, and plan to spend another $10 million this year, to remodel the interior
of the restaurant, introduce a new point-of-sale system, and install self-order kiosks. The capital outlay per
unit has averaged about $160,000. These expenditures are already paying off. Of course, only after a few
years can our capital investment be proved warranted. Although in 2021 Steak n Shake required capital from
its parent company to pay off debt and fund additional capital requirements, we expect the chain to finance
all of its business needs internally in 2022, and to resume the distribution of cash to Biglari Holdings later
in the year.



With self-service, dining rooms turned into walk-throughs with economics nearly as robust as the
economics of our drive-throughs. Our innovations have become a major source of rising productivity. Under
the old model, annual sales per employee, measured on a full-time-equivalent basis, were about $64,000;
now they are nearly $118,000. The resultant cost savings have largely been passed on to customers through
low prices and to associates through higher wages.

Our pricing philosophy is not to maximize profit per customer but to offer products at the lowest
possible prices to stimulate higher aggregate profits from an ever-increasing number of customers. Our most
popular item, the original double Steakburger with cheese and a side of fries, sells for $3.99, the same price
it sold for in the year 1997. Although we increased prices recently on most other products, we have generally
maintained lower prices than our competitors.

Productivity gains through the self-service model have also allowed company and franchise
restaurants to set higher wages. Where we were once a minimum-wage employer, we are now becoming a
maximum-wage employer in our category. Paying the best, attracting the best, retaining the best, and giving
the best to our customers is our formula. We take care of our people, they in turn take care of the customer,
and the results take care of themselves. And the right people are Steak n Shake’s most important asset.

Only exemplary leadership in a restaurant can create an environment where customers are served in
a warm, caring, and hospitable manner. To achieve our goal, we are building a culture of ownership at the
unit level. For operators to think and act like owners, we believe they must be owners. We are becoming a
company of owners, changing the culture of the organization in our quest for service excellence.

Steak n Shake’s franchise partnership program, launched a little over three years ago, is now in high
gear, and it has provided clear and convincing evidence of success. It is important to review how the program
works, because it is not the typical arrangement. Our franchise partner agreement stipulates that the
franchisee make an upfront investment totaling $10,000, a modest figure for the opportunity. Because of our
significant investment in the business, including the construction of the restaurant and its equipment, we
assess a fee of up to 15% of sales as well as 50% of profits. We generate most of our revenue from our share
of the profits. It is worth noting that with company-operated units transitioning to franchise ownership, Steak
n Shake will appear to be a much smaller company than before from a revenue perspective but not from a
profit perspective. Accounting convention dictates that in company-operated units, sales to the end customer
are recorded as revenue; but for franchise partner units, only our share of the restaurants’ profits, along with
certain fees, are recorded as revenue.

Under this franchise arrangement, an owner-operator is able to earn considerable sums, which is the
way we want it. Over the last two years, the average franchise partner made about $137,000 per annum,
which was more than the average accountant, architect, or engineer in America earned. Doubtless, a good
number of our partners will become millionaires. But make no mistake: We are not minting millionaires but
are merely providing the means — they are earning every penny.

By year-end 2021, we had converted 159 company-operated units into single-unit franchise
partnerships, an increase of 73 partners from the prior year. We launched the program in late 2018, and by
the end of that year, we had just two partners.

In the process of admitting the 159, we received roughly 52,000 applications from franchisee
candidates, which represents an acceptance rate of 0.31%. Strenuous efforts are undertaken to choose
franchise partners based on their managerial skill set and their demonstration of the gold standard in service.
This franchise opportunity cannot be purchased, only earned. Our program is designed for those long on
ability but short on capital. Motivated men and women are making a difference at Steak n Shake.



The franchise partnership system resembles a federation of legally and administratively separate
enterprises. Our single-unit franchise partners display a consummate commitment to their respective
restaurants. Absentee ownership is neither desired nor permitted. Our partners are responsible for managing
the day-to-day operations of their restaurant, setting wages, and building their business one customer at a
time. They are America’s ablest operators, and their stories are illustrations of the American dream.

Our franchise partnership is living proof that the American dream is still with us 90 years after the
term was coined by James Truslow Adams in his book The Epic of America: “that dream of a land in which
life should be better and richer and fuller for everyone, with opportunity for each according to ability or
achievement.” In this land of unparalleled opportunity, no person need fail for any reason relating to the
circumstances of their birth or environment, or to their race, religion, gender, or any other identity
characteristic.

Our system of meritocracy, an economic opportunity based on entrepreneurism, has resulted in one
of the most diverse franchise operations in the country. Minority- and women-owned businesses account for
60% of all franchise partnerships as of year-end 2021. In particular, Black-owned enterprises constitute 21%
of our entire franchise partnership system. We did not set out to attain this achievement. We simply removed
all the barriers facing our potential partners. The touchstone of our program is performance. By building a
system based on the principles of equal opportunity, we have assembled an extraordinary group of
enterprising owner-operators.

In addition to our nontraditional franchise partnership program, we also have a traditional franchise
business, which is our means of growing unit count. This segment allows us to grow without a major capital
outlay. Here, the funding necessary to expand the brand is borne by third parties. The noncapital -intensive
strategy of traditional franchising generates high-return, annuity-like cash flows. As such, it is a business
that not only produces cash instead of consuming it but concomitantly reduces operating risk. Beginning in
2010, we invested substantial sums to advance our traditional franchise business. Displayed below are the
number of franchise units and the revenue derived from them.

(Dollars in 000’s)

Franchise Franchise
Royalties and Marketing Franchise Number of
Other Fees Contributions Revenue Franchise
(A) (B) (A) +(B) Units
2010% oo, $ 4316 $ 6,516 $10,832 71
2021 oo 13,058 6,795 19,853 178
Gain .......couee.. $ 8,742 $ 279 $ 9,021 107

* Franchise royalties and other fees have been adjusted to reflect the Accounting Standards Codlification Topic 606, adopted in 2018.

Phil and I disregard the franchise marketing contributions because the vast majority of these are
advertising dollars spent on behalf of the franchisees, as required by our contractual obligations. Our
attention is instead centered on franchise royalties and other fees we receive from franchisees.

Steak n Shake’s first franchise unit opened in 1939. For the next 71 years, Steak n Shake grew by an
average of one franchise unit per year, which contrasts with an increase of 107 units in the last 11 years.



For the period 2011 through 2015, our franchise business operated at a loss but intrinsic
value advanced. We allocated capital to develop the franchising business with the expectation of creating
greater dollar value for each dollar spent. Our traditional franchise business — domestic and international

combined — is now a prodigious cash generator. In 2021, traditional franchise operations posted a profit of
$9.9 million.

Insurance Operations

What Picasso was to painting and Rodin was to sculpture, the Campbells and the Hynemans are to
insurance. We view them as maestros in the art of insurance underwriting, and you will quickly see why.

Our insurance business enhances Biglari Holdings’ financial base and is a durable source of earnings.
The reason we endeavor to construct a formidable insurance operation arises from our attraction to the
financial dynamics of the property and casualty insurance business. Premiums are collected before claims
are paid out, such that funds from policyholders are, in the interim, available for investment. Naturally, if
the sum total of eventual losses and expenses does not exceed premiums, the company produces an
underwriting profit, which, in effect, provides investment funds financed at sub-zero cost. Any investment
gains or losses on these funds accrue to the insurance company’s owners. The idea of sound underwriting
supplying cost-free investment funds is simple in theory but difficult in practice, for the insurance-
underwriting business has rarely proved highly profitable.

Abundant capital sloshing around in an industry with commodity economics is a hazard to
shareholder wealth. To be sure, intense competition places a lid on industry profit. Measured as a return on
capital, the insurance industry’s rate of profit continues to be below that achieved by the Fortune 500. The
prospects of the industry are sub-par, but our own prospects are bright.

Our subsidiaries excel in an insurance world populated by property and casualty insurance
companies whose overall profits derive mainly from their investment income rather than their underwriting
income. We own two exceptional companies that rank at the very top of their class, as measured by
underwriting profit margin. In fact, we have had property and casualty underwriting gain in each year since
we entered the field with our acquisition of First Guard Insurance Company in 2014, augmented by our
acquisition of Southern Pioneer Property & Casualty Insurance Company in 2020. Under our ownership,
aggregate pre-tax underwriting profits totaled $49.0 million through year-end 2021. Here is the record of
our insurance business over a near eight-year span.

(Dollars in 000’s)

Premiums Underwriting Combined

Earned Profit Ratio
2014 o $ 8,719 $1,797 79.4
2015 i 16,719 3,357 79.9
2016 oo 22,397 4,913 78.1
2017 e 24,242 4,518 81.4
2018 e 26,465 5,634 78.7
2019 i 28,746 6,477 77.5
2020 i 49,220 9,999 79.7
2021t 55,411 12,317 77.8
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First Guard is a direct underwriter of commercial truck insurance — with no agent between the
insurer and the insured — rendering the company a low-cost operator with a sustainable competitive
advantage. Through its extreme operating efficiency, First Guard built a system that has, over the course of
25 years, made an average of 23 cents of underwriting profit for every dollar of premium it took in.

Last year its founder, Ed Campbell III, turned over the CEO reins to Drew Toepfer, who has been
with the company for 11 years. With his incomparable knowledge of every facet of the business, Drew has
demonstrated diligence and devotion in his extraordinary management of First Guard. Ed will continue to
serve as First Guard’s executive chairman, and at my invitation, he joined the board of Biglari Holdings at
last year’s annual meeting. I have no doubt that First Guard’s team will lead the company to ever greater
heights in the field of commercial truck insurance.

Southern Pioneer is an insurer offering a range of niche products. It is a specialist in providing
commercial coverage to non-franchised automobile dealerships, holding a commanding share in its four core
states: Alabama, Arkansas, Missouri, and Tennessee. In addition, the company is involved in other product
lines, such as liquor liability and collateral protection insurance. Its founders, Ben and Hal Hyneman,
alongside their respective sons Brian and Matt, and Hunter, manage the company collectively. They are men
of great business acumen who work together with a common aim. Where the Hynemans discovered a need
in the market, they filled it. They have shown enormous dexterity in entering the right lines at the right time
and managing them effectively. Regardless of the insurance product, they price policies to make a profit
rather than to generate volume.

Behind Southern Pioneer’s success lie old-fashioned virtues. The Hynemans provide high-caliber
management and disciplined underwriting, stay within their area of expertise, and remain alert to the next
pocket of underwriting opportunity. The loyalty of their employees has undoubtedly contributed greatly to
the success of the business. We are honored to be associated with the Hynemans and the people of Southern
Pioneer.

Our insurance domain — First Guard and Southern Pioneer — was assembled with care and forged
through our ideal association with family-managed enterprises. They each run operations producing
dependable underwriting gains, while I seek opportunities for the funds they deliver to Biglari Holdings. It
is a division of labor that suits them and me.

When reviewing the Biglari Holdings-controlled insurance companies, it is important to note not
only that First Guard and Southern Pioneer are well capitalized, with $97.3 million of tangible net worth,
but also that behind our insurance group lies a parent company with considerable capital strength.

We endeavor to build an ever greater collection of insurance businesses.

Southern Qil Company

We entered the oil and gas business on September 9, 2019, upon acquiring Southern Oil for
$51.5 million in cash. The company primarily operates offshore in the shallow waters of the Gulf of Mexico,
specifically in Louisiana state waters.

True oilmen have never seen a dollar of capital they would not spend on drilling. Because Phil and
I did not come from the industry, we suffer from no such compulsion. Instead we benefit from large capital
expenditures made prior to our arrival.

From the time of acquisition through the end of 2021, Southern Oil paid Biglari Holdings

$40.7 million in cash. Based on year-end crude oil and natural gas prices, the value of the company’s
producing wells continues to exceed the sum we paid for the company.
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The people of Southern Oil run a high-quality operation. They manage the assets responsibly, press
on every front to reduce costs and cut waste, and solve problems expertly as they arise. And we spare our
employees the predicament, too often seen at other petroleum companies, of working for a distressed
employer with an overleveraged balance sheet.

The typical oil and gas operator spends substantial capital on drilling operations to replace, and
potentially increase, its reserve base. We certainly possess the operational capabilities — offshore platforms,
developed pipelines, undeveloped leases, geologic support — needed to conduct exploration. Because of the
capital intensity and risks associated with such activity, we are opting to team up with others, shifting the
financial responsibility, in our endeavor to build oil and gas reserves. There is no guarantee, of course, that
we will be successful in obtaining partners; nor was our acquisition predicated on procuring them.

Maxim Inc.

In February 2014, we purchased Maxim, one of the most recognizable magazine properties, for
$12.6 million. We did so not with the intention of entering the magazine business per se; rather, we acquired
an underexploited brand with the intention of generating nonmagazine revenue, notably through licensing,
a cash-generating business related to consumer products, services, and events. In 2021, Maxim earned
$814,000 and paid about that amount to Biglari Holdings.

When we acquired Maxim, we first addressed the cost structure of the traditional side of the business,
print publishing, while creating a sophisticated periodical that is aspirational and inspirational. We greatly
amplified the quality of paper, photography, and content and have repositioned the brand with a luxury
lifestyle magazine and an online presence that together provide a launching pad for high-profit lines of
business.

The ability to build profits will rest mainly on our licensing business. Our results are sure to be
uneven because licensing projects themselves materialize with irregularity. Maxim is a profitable enterprise,
and we intend to unearth the latent value of the brand in order to obtain a satisfactory return on our total
investment.

Shareholder Communications

Biglari Holdings is a lifetime commitment of mine. Our ownership structure allows us to operate
much like a partnership, where Phil and I are the general partners and our stockholders are the financial
partners. To ensure a long-lasting partnership for those who join us, it is our beholden duty to communicate
clearly our approach, objectives, and operations, in an effort to align expectations.

If we were a private partnership, the absence of a public security market would not bother us, for we
do not measure the company’s yearly progress by the gain in its stock price but by the gain in its per-share
intrinsic value. In the long run, both figures will meet at nearly the same place. However, unlike in a
partnership, we do not set entry or exit prices — shareholders do. But we can promote harmony between
market price and per-share value through our communications and practices. The material contained in this
report is designed to provide you with the information necessary to arrive at the corporation’s per-share
intrinsic value — information we would want to know if our roles were reversed. Our goal during your
period of ownership is to build per-share value that exceeds the rate of return of the S&P 500 Index. The
longer a shareholder’s holding period, the greater the alignment between the corporation’s business
performance and its stock performance. We hope your time horizon is expressed in decades.
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My communications with shareholders are generally limited to the annual report and the annual
meeting. We do not provide earnings guidance or hold quarterly conference calls because neither activity
would be consistent with our style of management, whose aim is to attract informed long-term investors.

Moreover, we wish to provide all shareholders with the same information simultaneously. One-on-
one meetings are neither productive nor practicable. We remain attentive to long-term owners who think for
themselves and make long-term investments based on their own assessment. It is this constituency to whom
I write the Chairman’s Letters, covering the business in reasonable detail, and for whom we hold annual
meetings covering matters of substance. We undertake these unorthodox practices because we care about
the kind of shareholders who own our stock. Since our decisions are based on rationality, not optics, we
frequently depart from the zeitgeist regarding corporate governance. Those seeking a conventional firm to
invest in have thousands of publicly owned companies from which to choose. But those who find our modus
operandi appealing are welcome to join our club, admission to which is available through the New York
Stock Exchange, where our stock is listed.

Past Chairman’s Letters are also essential to help you gain more knowledge of our business. These
letters can be easily accessed on our website, biglariholdings.com. To keep you abreast of the company, we
will issue press releases concerning 2022 quarterly results after the market closes on May 6, August 5, and
November 4. The 2022 annual report will be posted on our website on Saturday, February 25, 2023.

The annual meeting will be held at 1:00 pm on Thursday, May 26, 2022, at San Antonio’s Majestic
Theatre, a venue that lives up to its name. We hope you are able to turn the trip into a revelatory weekend of
enjoyable activities. We have obtained discounts at several hotels that are posted on our website. The bulk
of the gathering is a question-and-answer session that usually lasts several hours, covering myriad topics on
shareholders’ minds. Last year, many shareholders traveled from afar to be with us, and we expect a greater
number to join us this year. Phil and I look forward to spending our time together answering your questions.
We find the annual meeting to be an effective channel to communicate with you. And of course, we will try
to give you our best performance. The meeting is just for our owners; to attend, you must own shares and
show proof thereof. As an owner, you may bring up to two pre-registered guests with you.

* sk ok

As a diversified corporation, Biglari Holdings’ profits are derived from its operating businesses and
investments. We are intent upon growing our collection of businesses with just a modicum of personnel at
headquarters. Our small team at the holding company does the work of a group many times its size. In
addition to handling the important accounting, regulatory, and tax matters, they also handle routine
administrative tasks including arranging the annual meeting. I owe them my deepest gratitude.

The structure of our enterprise is an entrepreneur’s dream, as it enables us to enter any company in
any industry, anywhere in the world. Phil and I relish our pursuit of opportunistic corporate expansion and
are fully committed to making your journey with us a prosperous one.

Sardar Biglari
Chairman of the Board

February 26, 2022

13



[THIS PAGE LEFT BLANK INTENTIONALLY]

14



UNITED STATES
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K
XI  ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021
or
[] TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934
For the transition period from to
Commission file number 001-38477
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)
INDIANA 82-3784946
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation) (LR.S. Employer Identification No.)

17802 IH 10 West, Suite 400

San Antonio, Texas 78257
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code)

(210) 344-3400

Registrant’s telephone number, including area code

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of each class Trading Symbols Name of each exchange on which registered
Class A Common Stock, no par value BH.A New York Stock Exchange
Class B Common Stock, no par value BH New York Stock Exchange

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:
NONE

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes [] No
Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes [J No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the
past 90 days. Yes [X] No [J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of
Regulation S-T (Section 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months. Yes XI No [J

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging
growth company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer,” “smaller reporting company” and “emerging growth company” in Rule 12b-2
of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

G

Large accelerated filer O Accelerated filer Non-accelerated filer O Smaller reporting company O Emerging growth company OJ

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised
financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit
report

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes O No
The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant as of June 30, 2021 was approximately $173,487,488.

Number of shares of common stock outstanding as of February 21, 2022:

Class A common stock — 206,864
Class B common stock — 2,068,640

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE
Portions of the Registrant’s definitive Proxy Statement to be filed for its 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders are incorporated by reference into Part III of this
Form 10-K.

15



Item 1.
Item 1A.
Item 1B.
Item 2.
Item 3.
Item 4.

Item 5.

Item 6.
Item 7.
Item 7A.
Item 8.

Item 9.
Item 9A.
Item 9B.

Item 10.
Item 11.
Item 12.

Item 13.
Item 14.

Signatures

Table of Contents

BUSIIIESS ..ottt ettt ettt et ettt et eae ettt s
RUSK FACLOTS ..ottt ettt st e st e et s e e e bt enbaeebees
Unresolved Staff COMMENTS .............cocooiiiiiiii ettt ettt esa et e eneeas
PrOPerties ..ottt sttt ettt ettt et b et e b e
Legal ProcCeeinm@s ..........ccc.oiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii ettt sttt
Mine Safety DISCIOSUIES ...........ooouiiiiiiiiii ettt ettt st et e e

Part 11
Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of

EqQUItY SE@CUTIEIES ......ooiiiiiiiiiiee ettt st e e st e et e s be e et e e ebaeeabees
Selected FInancial Data ...ttt ettt ettt
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations .................
Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market RisK ......................cccoooiiii
Financial Statements and Supplementary Data ...t
Consolidated Balance SHEELS ...........coiiiiiiiiiiieeese ettt ettt sttt
Consolidated Statements Of EArMINgS .........ccccoieviiiiiiiiiieiieiceee ettt ettt be e eseesseesne s e
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive INCOME .........occviiiiiiiiiiiieiieiieie et
Consolidated Statements of Cash FIOWS .....cc.ooiiiiiiiiiiiiieee e
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders” EQUILY .......cccoooieviiiiieieiieiieieeie e
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ..........c..coeveririiiiieieieiees et
Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure ...............
Controls AN ProCeAUIES ..........c.oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiit ettt ettt bt et e bt eebe e s beeebeeebeesanees
Other INfOrmAtion ...........ccooiiiiiiiiiii ettt sttt e bt e st e s be e e bt e sbneeabees

Part I11

Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate GOVErNANCE .............c.ccoceeeiiieriiieeriieeiiieeriienieeenieesieeeneeennns
Executive COMPENSATION ............cocooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiici et ettt

Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

IMEATERT'S ...ttt ettt e a ettt ettt s h e bt e bt et eae e ae et et et e aae
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence ....................................
Principal Accountant Fees and Services ..............c..cocoiiiiiiiiiiiiicec e

16

17
20
24
25
26
26

27
29
30
40
41
44
45
45
46
47
48
70
70
70

71
71

71

71
71

72



Part 1

Item 1. Business

Biglari Holdings Inc. is a holding company owning subsidiaries engaged in a number of diverse business activities, including
property and casualty insurance, licensing and media, restaurants, and oil and gas. The Company’s largest operating
subsidiaries are involved in the franchising and operating of restaurants. Biglari Holdings is founded and led by Sardar Biglari,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Biglari Holdings’ management system combines decentralized operations with centralized finance decision-making. Operating
decisions for the various business units are made by their respective managers. All major investment and capital allocation
decisions are made for the Company and its subsidiaries by Mr. Biglari.

As of December 31, 2021, Mr. Biglari beneficially owns shares of the Company that represent approximately 66.2% of the
economic interest and approximately 70.4% of the voting interest.

Overview of the Impact of COVID-19

The novel coronavirus (“COVID-197), declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020, caused
governments to impose restrictive measures to contain its spread. Those shutdowns significantly affected our operating
businesses to varying degrees. The risks and uncertainties resulting from the pandemic may continue to affect our future
earnings, cash flows, and financial condition. Accordingly, estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements,
including those associated with the evaluation of certain long-lived assets, goodwill, and other intangible assets for impairment,
may be subject to significant adjustments in future periods.

Restaurant Operations

The Company’s restaurant operations are conducted through two subsidiaries: Steak n Shake Inc. (“Steak n Shake”) and
Western Sizzlin Corporation (“Western Sizzlin™) for a combined 577 units. As of December 31, 2021, Steak n Shake had 199
company-operated restaurants, 159 franchise partner units, and 178 traditional franchise units. Of the 199 company-operated
units, 42 are currently closed but Steak n Shake intends to refranchise a majority of them. Western Sizzlin had 3 company-
operated restaurants and 38 franchise units.

Founded in 1934 in Normal, Illinois, on Route 66, Steak n Shake is a classic American brand serving premium burgers and
milkshakes. Steak n Shake is headquartered in Indianapolis, Indiana.

Founded in 1962 in Augusta, Georgia, Western Sizzlin is a steak and buffet concept serving signature steak dishes as well as
other classic American menu items. Western Sizzlin also operates two other concepts: Great American Steak & Buffet, and
Wood Grill Buffet. Western Sizzlin is headquartered in Roanoke, Virginia.

In response to COVID-19, our restaurants were required to close their dining rooms in the first quarter of 2020, and the
majority of those dining rooms remained closed during 2020. Steak n Shake reopened the majority of dining rooms during
2021, and in doing so has implemented a self-service model. Our restaurant operations followed the guidance of health officials
in determining the appropriate restrictions to put in place for each restaurant.

Company-Operated Restaurants

A typical company-operated restaurant management team consists of a general manager, a restaurant manager, and other
managers, depending on the sales volume of the restaurant. Each restaurant’s general manager has primary responsibility for the
day-to-day operations of his or her unit. Restaurant operations obtain food products and supplies from independent national
distributors. Purchases are centrally negotiated to ensure uniformity in product quality.

Franchise Partner Restaurants

Steak n Shake offers a franchise partner program to transition company-operated restaurants to franchise partnerships. The
franchise agreement stipulates that the franchisee make an upfront investment totaling $10,000. Steak n Shake, as the
franchisor, assesses a fee of up to 15% of sales as well as 50% of profits. Potential franchise partners are screened based on
entrepreneurial attitude and ability, but they become franchise partners based on achievement. Each must meet the gold
standard in service. Franchise partners are required to be hands-on operators, limited to a single location.
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Traditional Franchise Restaurants

Restaurant operations’ traditional franchising program extends the brands to areas in which there are no current development
plans for company stores. The expansion plans include seeking qualified new franchisees and expanding relationships with
current franchisees. Restaurant operations typically seek franchisees with both the financial resources necessary to fund
successful development and significant experience in the restaurant/retail business. Both restaurant chains assist franchisees
with the development and ongoing operation of their restaurants. In addition, personnel assist franchisees with site selection,
approve restaurant sites, and provide prototype plans, construction support, and specifications. Restaurant operations staff
provides both on-site and off-site instruction to franchise restaurant management and associates.

International

We have a corporate office in Monaco and an international organization with personnel in various functions to support our
international business. As of December 31, 2021, we operated four company locations in Europe to promote the Steak n Shake
brand to prospective franchisees. Similar to our traditional domestic franchise agreements, a typical international franchise
development agreement includes development and franchise fees in addition to subsequent royalty fees based on the gross sales
of each restaurant. As of December 31, 2021, there were a total of 35 franchise units in Europe.

Competition

The restaurant business is one of the most intensely competitive industries. As there are virtually no barriers to entry into the
restaurant business, competitors may include national, regional, and local establishments. Restaurant businesses compete on the
basis of price, convenience, service, experience, menu variety, and product quality. The restaurant business is often affected by
changes in consumer tastes and by national, regional, and local economic conditions. The performance of individual restaurants
may be impacted by factors such as traffic patterns, demographic trends, weather conditions, and competing restaurants.

Because of government actions to contain the spread of COVID-19, our restaurants were required to close their dining rooms
during the first quarter of 2020. Many of our competitors reopened their dining rooms in 2020, whereas the majority of our
dining rooms reopened by December 31, 2021.

Government Regulations

The Company is subject to various global, federal, state, and local laws affecting its restaurant operations. Each of the
restaurants must comply with licensing and regulation by a number of governmental authorities, i.e., health, sanitation, safety
and fire agencies in the jurisdiction in which the restaurant is located.

Various federal and state labor laws govern our relationship with our employees, e.g., minimum wage, overtime pay,
unemployment tax, health insurance, and workers’ compensation. Federal, state and local government agencies have established
regulations requiring that we disclose nutritional information.

Trademark and Licenses
The name and reputation of Steak n Shake is a material asset, and management protects it and other service marks through
appropriate registrations.

Insurance Business

Biglari Holdings’ insurance activities are conducted through two insurance entities, First Guard Insurance Company and its
affiliated agency, 1st Guard Corporation (collectively “First Guard”), and Southern Pioneer Property & Casualty Insurance
Company and its affiliated agency, Southern Pioneer Insurance Agency, Inc. (collectively “Southern Pioneer”). Our insurance
businesses provide insurance of property and casualty.

The insurance business is stringently regulated by state insurance departments. Insurers based in the United States are subject
to regulation by their states of domicile and by those states in which they are licensed to write policies on an admitted basis.
First Guard and Southern Pioneer operate under licenses issued by various state insurance authorities. The primary focus of
regulation is to assure that insurers are financially solvent and that policyholder interests are otherwise protected. States
establish minimum capital levels for insurance companies and establish guidelines for permissible business and investment
activities. States have the authority to suspend or revoke a company’s authority to do business as conditions warrant. States
regulate the payment of dividends by insurance companies to their sharcholders and other transactions with affiliates.
Dividends, capital distributions, and other transactions of extraordinary amounts are subject to prior regulatory approval.
Insurers may market, sell, and service insurance policies in the states where they are licensed. These insurers are referred to as
admitted insurers. Admitted insurers are generally required to obtain regulatory approval of their policy forms and premium
rates. Except for regulatory considerations, there are virtually no barriers to entry into the insurance industry.

First Guard is a direct underwriter of commercial truck insurance, selling physical damage and nontrucking liability insurance
to truckers. The commercial truck insurance business is highly competitive in the areas of price and service. Vigorous
competition is provided by large, well-capitalized companies and by small regional insurers. First Guard’s insurance products
are marketed primarily through direct response methods via the Internet or by telephone. First Guard’s cost-efficient direct
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response marketing methods enable it to be a low-cost insurer. First Guard uses its own claim staff to manage claims. Seasonal
variations in First Guard’s insurance business are not significant. However, extraordinary weather conditions or other factors
may have a significant effect upon the frequency or severity of claims. First Guard is headquartered in Venice, Florida.

Southern Pioneer underwrites garage liability and commercial property as well as homeowners and dwelling fire insurance on
an admitted basis. Insurance coverages are offered nationwide, primarily through insurance agents. Southern Pioneer competes
with large companies and local insurers. Southern Pioneer is headquartered in Jonesboro, Arkansas.Biglari Holdings’ insurance
operations may be affected by extraordinary weather conditions or other factors, any of which may have a significant effect

upon the frequency or severity of claims.

Oil and Gas Business
Southern Oil Company (“Southern Oil”) primarily operates oil and natural gas properties offshore in the shallow waters of the
Gulf of Mexico. Southern Oil is headquartered in Madisonville, Louisiana.

The oil and gas industry is fundamentally a commodity business. Southern Oil’s operations and earnings, therefore, may be
significantly affected by changes in oil and natural gas prices. The COVID-19 pandemic caused oil demand to decrease
significantly during the second and third quarters of 2020, which created oversupplied markets and lower commodity prices and
margins. In response, the Company cut production and expenses in its oil and natural gas business during 2020. However, the
significant increase in average crude oil and natural gas prices in 2021 compared to 2020 resulting from the lifting of
COVID-19 restrictions, the resumption of normal economic activity, and the resulting improvement in supply and demand
fundamentals caused Southern Oil to return to full production during 2021. Southern Oil competes with fully integrated, major
global petroleum companies, as well as independent and national petroleum companies. In addition, the Company is subject to a
variety of risks inherent in the oil and gas business, including a wide range of local, state, and federal regulations.

Brand Licensing Business
Maxim’s business lies principally in brand licensing. Maxim is headquartered in New York City, New York.

Maxim competes for licensing business with other companies. The nature of the licensing business is predicated on projects that
materialize with irregularity. In addition, publishing is a highly competitive business.

Maxim products are marketed under various registered brand names, including, but not limited to, “MAXIM®” and
“Maxim®””.

Investments

The Company and its subsidiaries have invested in The Lion Fund, L.P. and The Lion Fund II, L.P. (collectively, “the
investment partnerships”). The investment partnerships operate as private investment funds. As of December 31, 2021, the fair
value of the investments was $474.2 million. These investments are subject to a rolling five-year lock-up period under the terms
of the respective partnership agreements.

Employees

As of December 31, 2021, the Company employed 2,633 persons. When hiring personnel, we do not consider circumstances of
birth, race, gender, ethnicity, religion, or any other factor unrelated to talent. The factor of prime importance to us, talent, is
invariably found across a wide spectrum of humanity. We seek to associate with people of high character and competence.

Additional information with respect to Biglari Holdings’ businesses
Information related to our reportable segments may be found in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

Biglari Holdings maintains a website (www.biglariholdings.com) where its annual reports, press releases, interim shareholder
reports, and links to its subsidiaries’ websites can be found. Biglari Holdings’ periodic reports filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), which include Form 10-K, Form 10-Q, Form 8-K, and amendments thereto, may be
accessed by the public free of charge from the SEC and through Biglari Holdings’ website. In addition, corporate governance
documents such as Corporate Governance Guidelines, Code of Conduct, Compensation Committee Charter, and Audit
Committee Charter are posted on the Company’s website and are available without charge upon written request. The
Company’s website and the information contained therein or connected thereto are not intended to be incorporated into this
report on Form 10-K.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

EEINT3
>

Biglari Holdings and its subsidiaries (referred to herein as “we,” “us,” “our,” or similar expressions) are subject to certain risks
and uncertainties in their business operations, which are described below. The risks and uncertainties described below are not
the only risks we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known or that are currently deemed immaterial may also
impair our business operations.

Risks relating to Biglari Holdings

We are dependent on our Chairman and CEO.

Our success depends on the services of Sardar Biglari, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. All major investment and capital
allocation decisions are made for the Company and its subsidiaries by Mr. Biglari. If for any reason the services of Mr. Biglari
were to become unavailable, a material adverse effect on our business could occur.

Sardar Biglari, Chairman and CEO, beneficially owns over 50% of our outstanding shares of common stock, enabling Mr.
Biglari to exert control over matters requiring shareholder approval.

Mr. Biglari has the ability to control the outcome of matters submitted to our shareholders for approval, including the election
or removal of directors, the amendment of our certificate of incorporation or bylaws, and other significant transactions. In
addition, Mr. Biglari has the ability to control the management and affairs of the Company. This control position may conflict
with the interests of some or all of the Company’s passive shareholders, and reduce the possibility of a merger proposal, tender
offer, or proxy contest for the removal of directors.

We are a “controlled company” within the meaning of the New York Stock Exchange rules and thus can rely on exemptions
from certain corporate governance requirements.

Because Mr. Biglari beneficially owns more than 50% of the Company’s outstanding voting stock, we are considered a
“controlled company” pursuant to New York Stock Exchange rules. As a result, we are not required to comply with certain
director independence and board committee requirements. The Company does not have a governance and nominating
committee.

Biglari Holdings’ access to capital is subject to restrictions that may adversely affect its ability to satisfy its cash
requirements or implement its growth strategy.

We are a holding company and are largely dependent upon dividends and other sources of funds from our subsidiaries in order
to meet our needs. The ability of our insurance subsidiaries to pay dividends to Biglari Holdings is regulated by state insurance
laws, which limit the amount of, and in certain circumstances may prohibit the payment of, cash dividends. Furthermore, as a
result of our substantial investments in The Lion Fund, L.P. and The Lion Fund II, L.P., investment partnerships controlled by
Mr. Biglari, our access to capital is restricted by the terms of their respective partnership agreements. There is also a high
likelihood that we will make additional investments in these investment partnerships.

Competition.

Each of our operating businesses faces intense competitive pressure within the markets in which they operate. Competition may
arise domestically as well as internationally. Accordingly, future operating results will depend to some degree on whether our
operating units are successful in protecting or enhancing their competitive advantages. If our operating businesses are
unsuccessful in these efforts, our periodic operating results may decline from current levels in the future. We also highlight
certain competitive risks in the sections below.

Deterioration of general economic conditions may significantly reduce our operating earnings.

Our operating businesses are subject to normal economic cycles, which affect the general economy or the specific industries in
which they operate. Significant deterioration of economic conditions over a prolonged period could produce a material adverse
effect on one or more of our significant operations.

Our operating businesses face a variety of risks associated with doing business in foreign markets.

There is no assurance that our international operations will remain profitable. Our international operations are subject to all of
the risks associated with our domestic operations, as well as a number of additional risks, varying substantially country by
country. These include, inter alia, international economic and political conditions, corruption, terrorism, social and ethnic
unrest, foreign currency fluctuations, differing cultures, and consumer preferences.

In addition, we may become subject to foreign governmental regulations that impact the way we do business with our
international franchisees and vendors. These include antitrust and tax requirements, anti-boycott regulations, international trade
regulations, the USA Patriot Act, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, Office of Foreign Assets Control regulations, and
applicable local laws. Failure to comply with any such legal requirements could subject us to monetary liabilities and other
sanctions, which could harm our business and our financial condition.
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Epidemics, pandemics, or other outbreaks, including COVID-19, could hurt our operating businesses and investments.

The outbreak of COVID-19 adversely affected our operations and investments, and in the future it or other epidemics,
pandemics, or outbreaks may do the same. This is or may be due to closures or restrictions requested or mandated by
governmental authorities, disruption to supply chains and workforce, reduction of demand for our products and services, credit
losses when customers and other counterparties fail to satisfy their obligations to us, and volatility in global equity securities
markets, among other factors.

Potential changes in laws or regulations may have a negative impact on our Class A common stock and Class B common
stock.

In prior years, bills have been introduced in Congress that, if enacted, would have prohibited the listing of common stock on a
national securities exchange if such common stock were part of a class of securities that has no voting rights or carries
disproportionate voting rights. Although these bills have not been acted upon by Congress, there can be no assurance that such a
bill (or a modified version thereof) will not be introduced in Congress in the future. Legislation or other regulatory
developments could make the shares of Class A common stock and Class B common stock ineligible for trading on the NYSE
or other national securities exchanges.

Litigation could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, cash flows, and results of operations.

We are or may be from time to time a party to various legal actions, investigations, and other proceedings brought by
employees, consumers, policyholders, suppliers, shareholders, government agencies, or other third parties in connection with
matters pertaining to our business, including those related to our investment activities. The outcome of such matters is often
difficult to assess or quantify, and the cost to defend future proceedings may be significant. Even if a claim is unsuccessful or is
not fully pursued, the negative publicity surrounding any negative allegation regarding our Company, our business, or our
products could adversely affect our reputation. While we believe that the ultimate outcome of routine legal proceedings,
individually and in the aggregate will not have a material impact on our financial position, we cannot assure that an adverse
outcome on, or reputational damage from, any of these matters would not, in fact, materially impact our business and results of
operations for the period after these matters are completed or otherwise resolved.

Risks Relating to Our Restaurant Operations

Our restaurant operations face intense competition from a wide range of industry participants.

The restaurant business is one of the most intensely competitive industries. As there are virtually no barriers to entry into the
restaurant business, competitors may include national, regional, and local establishments. Restaurant businesses compete on the
basis of price, convenience, service, experience, menu variety, and product quality. The restaurant business is often affected by
changes in consumer tastes and by national, regional, and local economic conditions. The performance of individual restaurants
may be impacted by factors such as traffic patterns, demographic trends, weather conditions, and competing restaurants.
Additional factors that may adversely affect the restaurant industry include, but are not limited to, food and wage inflation,
safety, and food-borne illness.

Changes in economic conditions may have an adverse impact on our restaurant operations.

Our restaurant operations are subject to normal economic cycles affecting the economy in general or the restaurant industry in
particular. The restaurant industry has been affected by economic factors, including the deterioration of global, national,
regional and local economic conditions, declines in employment levels, and shifts in consumer spending patterns. Declines in
consumer restaurant spending could be harmful to our financial position and results of operations. As a result, decreased cash
flow generated from our business may adversely affect our financial position and our ability to fund our operations. In addition,
macroeconomic disruptions could adversely impact the availability of financing for our franchisees’ expansions and operations.

Fluctuations in commodity and energy prices and the availability of commodities, including beef and dairy, could affect our
restaurant business.

The cost, availability, and quality of ingredients restaurant operations use to prepare their food are subject to a range of factors,
many of which are beyond their control. A significant component of our restaurant business costs is related to food
commodities, including beef and dairy products, which can be subject to significant price fluctuations due to seasonal shifts,
climate conditions, industry demand, changes in commodity markets, and other factors. If there is a substantial increase in
prices for these food commodities, our results of operations may be negatively affected. In addition, our restaurants are
dependent upon frequent deliveries of perishable food products that meet certain specifications. Shortages or interruptions in
the supply of perishable food products caused by unanticipated demand, problems in production or distribution, disease or food
borne illnesses, inclement weather, or other conditions could adversely affect the availability, quality, and cost of ingredients,
which would likely lower revenues, damage our reputation, or otherwise harm our business.
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Adverse weather conditions or losses due to casualties could negatively impact our operating performance.

Property damage caused by casualties and natural disasters, instances of inclement weather, flooding, hurricanes, fire, and other
acts of nature can adversely impact sales in several ways. Many of Steak n Shake’s and Western Sizzlin’s restaurants are
located in the Midwest and Southeast portions of the United States. During the first and fourth quarters, restaurants in the
Midwest may face harsh winter weather conditions. During the third and fourth quarters, restaurants in the Southeast may
experience hurricanes or tropical storms. Our sales and operating results may be negatively affected by these harsh weather
conditions, which could make it more difficult for guests to visit our restaurants, necessitate the closure of restaurants, cause
physical damage, or lead to a shortage of employees.

We are subject to health, employment, environmental, and other government regulations, and failure to comply with existing
or future government regulations could expose us to litigation or penalties, damage our reputation, and lower profits.

We are subject to various global, federal, state, and local laws and regulations affecting our restaurant operations. Changes in
existing laws, rules, and regulations applicable to us, or increased enforcement by governmental authorities, may require us to
incur additional costs and expenses necessary for compliance. If we fail to comply with any of these laws, we may be subject to
governmental action or litigation, and our reputation could be accordingly harmed. Injury to our reputation would, in turn,
likely reduce revenues and profits.

The development and construction of restaurants is subject to compliance with applicable zoning, land use, and environmental
regulations. Difficulties in obtaining, or failure to obtain, the required licenses or approvals could delay or prevent the
development of a new restaurant in a particular area.

In recent years, there has been increased legislative, regulatory, and consumer focus on nutrition and advertising practices in the
food industry. As a result, restaurant operations have become subject to regulatory initiatives in the area of nutrition disclosure
or advertising, such as requirements to provide information about the nutritional content of our food products. The operation of
the Steak n Shake and Western Sizzlin franchise system is also subject to franchise laws and regulations enacted by a number of
states, and to rules promulgated by the U.S. Federal Trade Commission. Any future legislation regulating franchise
relationships may negatively affect our operations, particularly our relationship with franchisees. Failure to comply with new or
existing franchise laws and regulations in any jurisdiction, or to obtain required government approvals, could result in a ban or
temporary suspension on future franchise sales. Further national, state, and local government initiatives, such as mandatory
health insurance coverage or proposed increases in minimum wage rates, could adversely affect our business.

Risks Relating to Our Investment Activities

The majority of our investment activities are conducted through outside investment partnerships, The Lion Fund, L.P. and
The Lion Fund 11, L.P., which are controlled by Mr. Biglari.

Our investment activities are conducted mainly through these outside investment partnerships. Under the terms of their
partnership agreements, each contribution made by the Company to the investment partnerships is subject to a five-year lock-up
period, and any distribution upon our withdrawal of funds will be paid out over a two-year period (and may be paid in-kind
rather than in cash, thus increasing the difficulty of liquidating these investments). As a result of these provisions and our
consequent inability to access this capital for a defined period, our capital invested in the investment partnerships may be
subject to an increased risk of loss of all or a significant portion of value, and we may become unable to meet our capital
requirements. There is a high likelihood that we will make additional investments in these investment partnerships in the future.

We have a services agreement with Biglari Capital Corp., the general partner of the investment partnerships (“Biglari Capital”),
and Biglari Enterprises LLC (collectively, the “Biglari Entities”), in which the Company pays a fixed fee to the Biglari Entities
for business and administrative-related services. The Biglari Entities are owned by Mr. Biglari. There can be no assurance that
the fees paid will be commensurate with the benefits received.

The incentive allocation to which Mr. Biglari, as Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Biglari Capital, is entitled under the
terms of the respective partnership agreements is equal to 25% of the net profits allocated to the limited partners in excess of a
6% hurdle rate over the previous high-water mark.

Our investments may be concentrated, and fair values are subject to a loss in value.

The majority of our investments are held through the investment partnerships, which generally invest in common stocks. These
investments may be largely concentrated in the common stocks of a few investees. A significant decline in the major values of
these investments may produce a large decrease in our consolidated shareholders’ equity and can have a material adverse effect
on our consolidated book value per share and earnings.
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We are subject to the risk of possibly becoming an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940.

We run the risk of inadvertently becoming an investment company, which would require us to register under the Investment
Company Act of 1940, as amended (the “Investment Company Act”). Registered investment companies are subject to
extensive, restrictive, and potentially adverse regulations relating to, among other things, operating methods, management,
capital structure, dividends, and transactions with affiliates. Registered investment companies are not permitted to operate their
business in the manner in which we operate our business, nor are registered investment companies permitted to have many of
the relationships that we have with our affiliated companies.

To avoid becoming and registering as an investment company under the Investment Company Act, we operate as an ongoing
enterprise, with approximately 2,600 employees, along with an asset base from which to pursue acquisitions. Furthermore,
Section 3(c)(3) of the Investment Company Act excludes insurance companies from the definition of “investment company.”
Because we monitor the value of our investments and structure transactions accordingly, we may structure transactions in a less
advantageous manner than if we did not have Investment Company Act concerns, or we may avoid otherwise economically
desirable transactions due to those concerns. In addition, adverse developments with respect to our ownership of certain of our
operating subsidiaries, including significant appreciation or depreciation in the market value of certain of our publicly traded
holdings, could result in our inadvertently becoming an investment company. If it were established that we were an investment
company, there would be a risk, among other material adverse consequences, that we could become subject to monetary
penalties or injunctive relief, or both, in an action brought by the SEC, that we would be unable to enforce contracts with third
parties, or that third parties could seek to obtain rescission of transactions with us undertaken during the period it was
established that we were an unregistered investment company.

Risks Relating to Our Insurance Business

Our success depends on our ability to underwrite risks accurately and to charge adequate rates to policyholders.

Our results of operations depend on our ability to underwrite and set rates accurately for risks assumed. A primary role of the
pricing function is to ensure that rates are adequate to generate sufficient premiums to pay losses, loss adjustment expenses, and
underwriting expenses.

Our insurance business is vulnerable to significant catastrophic property loss, which could have an adverse effect on its
financial condition and results of operations.

Our insurance business faces a significant risk of loss in the ordinary course of its business for property damage resulting from
natural disasters, man-made catastrophes and other catastrophic events. These events typically increase the frequency and
severity of commercial property claims. Because catastrophic loss events are by their nature unpredictable, historical results of
operations may not be indicative of future results of operations, and the occurrence of claims from catastrophic events may
result in significant volatility in our insurance business’ financial condition and results of operations from period to period. We
attempt to manage our exposure to these events through reinsurance programs, although there is no assurance we will be
successful in doing so.

Our insurance business is subject to extensive existing state, local, and foreign governmental regulations that restrict its
ability to do business and generate revenues.

Our insurance business is subject to regulation in the jurisdictions in which it operates. These regulations may relate to, among
other things, the types of business that can be written, the rates that can be charged for coverage, the level of capital and
reserves that must be maintained, and restrictions on the types and size of investments that can be placed. Regulations may also
restrict the timing and amount of dividend payments. Accordingly, existing or new regulations related to these or other matters
or regulatory actions imposing restrictions on our insurance business may adversely impact its results of operations.

Risks Relating to Our Brand Licensing Business

Licensing opportunities for the Maxim brand may be difficult to maintain.

Maxim’s success depends to a significant degree upon licensing agreements. These licensing agreements mature from time to
time and we may be unable to secure favorable terms for future licensing arrangements. Future licensing partners may also fail
to honor their contractual obligations or take other actions that can diminish the value of the Maxim brand. Disputes could arise
that prevent or delay our ability to collect licensing revenues under these arrangements. If any of these developments occur or
our licensing efforts are otherwise not successful, the value and recognition of the Maxim brand, as well as the prospects of our
media business, could be materially, adversely affected.
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Risks Relating to Our Oil and Gas Business

Our 0il and gas business is exposed to the effects of volatile commodity prices.

The single largest variable that affects Southern Oil’s results of operations is the price of crude oil and natural gas. The price we
receive for our oil and natural gas production heavily influences Southern Oil’s revenue and profitability. Extended periods of
low prices for crude oil or natural gas can have a material adverse impact on our results of operations.

Our scope of business is concentrated in the shallow waters of the Gulf of Mexico.

Any disruption of its extractive business would adversely affect Southern Oil’s revenues and profitability. Southern Oil’s
operations are therefore subject to disruption from natural or human causes beyond its control, including physical risks from
hurricanes, severe storms, and other forms of system failures, any of which could result in suspension of operations or harm to
people or the natural environment.

Our 0il and gas business can be adversely affected by political or regulatory developments affecting our operations.

Southern Oil’s operations can be affected by changing economic, regulatory, and political environments. Litigation or changes
in national, state, or local environmental regulations or laws, including those designed to stop or impede the development or
production of oil and natural gas, could adversely affect Southern Oil’s operations and profitability.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

Restaurant Properties

As of December 31, 2021, restaurant operations included 577 company-operated and franchise locations. Restaurant operations
own the land and building for 157 restaurants; they also own 10 other properties. The following table lists the locations of the
restaurants, as of December 31, 2021.

Steak n Shake Western Sizzlin

Company  Franchise Traditional Company

Operated Partner Franchise = Operated  Franchise Total
Domestic:
Alabama.........ccccoveverieieieieeeee e — 2 6 — 6 14
ATIZONA ..ot — — 1 — — 1
ATKANSAS ...c.evieviieiieeiie e — — 5 — 8 13
California.........ccooeveveveerieiieriecieieeeens — — 2 — — 2
Colorado ..c.veeeeeieeieeiiecieeeee e 1 — 1 — — 2
Delaware........cceevevevieecienieieeeeeeeeeen — — 1 — — 1
Florida.......ccooecvevvieiiiieieeeeieeeeeeee, 23 54 6 — — 83
GCOIZIA c.eeeieneiiieieeieeeee e 11 10 12 — 4 37
TIHNOIS ..o 36 19 10 — — 65
Indiana.......cccoeveveeeiieniieieee e 43 17 2 — — 62
TOWa .o 2 1 1 — — 4
Kansas.......cooovvevieviienieeiceic e — — 4 — — 4
Kentucky...oooeeeiieieieiieeeee, 6 6 9 — — 21
Louisiana .........ccceeeveienenieneeieseeiene — — 2 — — 2
Maryland..........cccoeevevieviinieieeeeie e, — — 1 — 1 2
Michigan........ccooceeveiieienieeeeeee. 15 3 — — — 18
MISSISSIPPL ceveevrenreirenieeeieieeeeneeeevenaeeeees — — 7 — 1
MISSOUTT .t 13 9 22 — — 44
Nebraska ......cccoceeeeevieeieicieeciecieeeee — — 1 — — 1
NEVada..covevieiieieeiieieeeee e — — 6 — — 6
North Carolina........cccceeveveevvencrienieennnnn 1 5 3 — 6 15
ORIO ..ot 32 18 2 — 1 53
OKIahoma.........ceevvevieiiiieieceeie e, — — 2 — 2 4
Pennsylvania..........coccoooeniieniienene. 5 — 1 — — 6
South Carolina.........ccccoeeveviieieniieiennns — 1 2 — 2 5
TeNNESSCE.....eveeveeerieiieeieeeiee e 2 6 14 — 3 25
TEXAS . .uvieeeiiieeiee et 5 8 14 — 1 28
ViIrginia....ooeeveeveeierieeienieeeese e — — 3 2 3 8
Washington DC ........cocooviiiiiiiie — — 1 — — 1
West Virginia........ccoeceeveveveveeeeeneeeeenne. — — 2 1 — 3
International:
France .....cccoovevieeiiiieeeee 2 — 31 — — 33
MONACO ..ottt — — — — 1
Portugal........ccceviiiiiiiii, — — 4 — — 4
SPaAIN ... 1 — — — — 1
Total..ociieeieieeieeeeeeee e 199 159 178 3 38 577

As of December 31, 2021, 42 of the 199 Steak n Shake company-operated stores were closed. The Company intends to
refranchise the majority of its 42 closed stores.
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Other Properties
Southern Oil primarily operates oil and natural gas wells in Louisiana. Its operations are primarily offshore in the shallow
waters of the Gulf of Mexico.

First Guard owns the land and building of its office in Venice, Florida. Southern Pioneer owns the land and building of its
office in Jonesboro, Arkansas.

The Company owns Steak n Shake’s office building in Indianapolis, Indiana, along with two other undeveloped properties in
other states.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

Refer to Commitments and Contingencies - Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 for a
discussion of legal proceedings.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Part 11

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information
Biglari Holdings’ Class A common stock and Class B common stock are listed for trading on the NYSE, trading symbol: BH.A
and BH, respectively.

Shareholders
Biglari Holdings had 2,104 beneficial shareholders of its Class A common stock and 4,100 beneficial shareholders of its Class
B common stock as of February 16, 2022.

Dividends
Biglari Holdings has never declared a dividend.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

From November 22, 2021 through December 17, 2021, The Lion Fund II, L.P. purchased 198 shares of Class A common stock
and 39,776 shares of Class B common stock. The Lion Fund II, L.P. may be deemed to be an “affiliated purchaser” as defined
in Rule 10b-18(a)(3) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The purchases were made through open market
transactions.

Total Number of Maximum
Shares Purchased Number of Shares
Total Number Average Total Number Average as Part of That May Yet Be
of Class A Price Paid of Class B Price Paid Publicly Purchased Under
Shares per Class A Shares per Class B Announced Plans Plans or
Purchased Share Purchased Share or Programs Programs

October 1, 2021 — October 31, 2021.................... — 3 — —  $ — — —
November 1, 2021 — November 30, 2021 198 § 720.77 28,768 $ 143.25 — —
December 1, 2021 — December 31, 2021............. — 3 — 11,008 $ 148.30 — —

198 39,776 —
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Performance Graph

The graph below compares Biglari Holdings Inc.’s cumulative 5-year total shareholder return on its Class A common stock and
Class B common stock (on an equivalent Class A common stock basis) with the cumulative total returns of the S&P 500 Index
and the S&P Restaurants Index. The graph tracks the performance of a $100 investment in our common stock and in each index
(with the reinvestment of all dividends) from December 31, 2016 to December 31, 2021.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Among Biglari Holdings Inc., the S&P 500 Index
and the S&P Restaurants Index
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Period Ending

—H— Biglari Holdings  --€-- S&P 500 —A— S&P Restaurants

*$100 invested on 12/31/16 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends.
Fiscal year ending December 31.

Copyright© 2022 Standard & Poor’s, a division of S&P Global. All rights reserved.
The preceding stock price performance graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be “filed”
with the SEC, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any future filings under the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934, as amended, or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, except to the extent that we specifically incorporate it by

reference into such filings.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
Biglari Holdings does not have any equity compensation plans.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

(dollars in thousands except per share data)

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
Revenue:
Restaurant operations............cceeceeveveeeneeeiennennnn. $ 271290 $ 350,666 $ 610220 $ 775,690 $ 807,153
Insurance premiums and other...........c..ccoecveneenn. 58,609 52,679 30,083 27,628 24,943
Oil and as ...ccveveeeieieeeieeee e 33,004 26,255 24,436 — —
Licensing and media............ccevvrienenieniennenen. 3,203 4,083 4,099 6,576 7,708
Total TEVENUES ....ccveevvieieiieciieie e $ 366,106 $§ 433,683 $§ 668,838 $§ 809,894 $§ 839,804
Earnings:
Net earnings (10SS)......cceevrveveveririrverereirieiereeennas $ 35,478 $  (37,989) $ 45380 $ 19,392 $ 50,071
Net earnings (loss) per equivalent Class A share. $ 111.83 § (110.05) $ 131.64 §$ 5571 § 136.01
Year-end data:
TOtal @SSELS ..cuvveueieienieeiieie ettt $ 894,807 $ 1,017,968 $ 1,139,309 $ 1,029,493 § 1,063,584
Notes payable ........coovevivevieverieieieieeeeeeeeeienn $ — $ 152261 $ 180,264 $ 181,521 $ 182,990
Biglari Holdings Inc. shareholders’ equity .......... $ 587,696 $§ 564,828 $ 616,298 $ 570,455 $ 571,328

Earnings per share of common stock is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the
period. The Company has applied the “two-class method” of computing earnings per share as prescribed in

Accounting Standards Codification 260, “Earnings Per Share.’

We adopted ASC 606 “Revenue” on January 1, 2018, which resulted in recording initial franchise fees as deferred
revenue. These fees are recognized as revenue over the term of the franchise agreement. 2017 has not been adjusted.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
(dollars in thousands except per share data)

Biglari Holdings Inc. is a holding company owning subsidiaries engaged in a number of diverse business activities, including
property and casualty insurance, licensing and media, restaurants, and oil and gas. The Company’s largest operating
subsidiaries are involved in the franchising and operating of restaurants. Biglari Holdings is founded and led by Sardar Biglari,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Biglari Holdings’ management system combines decentralized operations with centralized finance decision-making. Operating
decisions for the various business units are made by their respective managers. All major investment and capital allocation
decisions are made for the Company and its subsidiaries by Mr. Biglari.

As of December 31, 2021, Mr. Biglari beneficially owns shares of the Company that represent approximately 66.2% of the
economic interest and approximately 70.4% of the voting interest.

Overview of the Impact of COVID-19

The novel coronavirus (“COVID-197), declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March 2020, caused
governments to impose restrictive measures to contain its spread. Those shutdowns significantly affected our operating
businesses to varying degrees. The risks and uncertainties resulting from COVID-19 and its variants may continue to affect our
future earnings, cash flows, and financial condition. Accordingly, estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements,
including those associated with the evaluation of certain long-lived assets, goodwill, and other intangible assets for impairment,
may be subject to significant adjustments in future periods.

Business Acquisition

On March 9, 2020, Biglari Holdings acquired the stock of Southern Pioneer Property & Casualty Insurance Company and its
affiliated agency, Southern Pioneer Insurance Agency, Inc. (collectively “Southern Pioneer”). Southern Pioneer underwrites
garage liability and commercial property as well as homeowners and dwelling fire insurance coverage. The Company’s
financial results include the results of Southern Pioneer from the date of acquisition.

Discussion of Operations
Net earnings attributable to Biglari Holdings shareholders are disaggregated in the table that follows. Amounts are recorded
after deducting income taxes.

2021 2020 2019

Operating businesses:

RESTAUTANT .......ovevieieeieeeceeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt e e ee e s aeenens $ 11,235 § (4,961) $ (10,734)

TNSULANCE ...t 11,290 9,840 5,584

O1l @NA GBS ..viiiiciiiieee ettt 7,528 1,890 5,921

Brand lCENSING .....cocueiuieiieiieiieiee ettt 2,364 1,374 572

INEEIESt EXPEISC...evviriieiieiieiieeieete ettt ettt et eae e e se e ebesseesseesaebeesseneeens (841) (6,940) (8,817)

Corporate and Other .........cccoeiuiiiiiiiiiiee e (9,829) (9,563) (7,919)
Total Operating bUSINESSES.......cveurririririrerinentenent ettt 21,747 (8,360) (15,393)
Investment partnership aiNS.........ccvecveeveriieierieeierie ettt eaens 8,899 (32,5006) 60,773
TNVESTMENT ZAINS ..ottt ettt 4,832 2,877 —

$ 35,478 8§ (37,989) § 45,380

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with Item 1, Business and our Consolidated Financial Statements and
the notes thereto included in this Form 10-K. The following discussion should also be read in conjunction with the “Cautionary
Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” and the risks and uncertainties described in Item 1A, Risk Factors set forth
above.

Our Management Discussion and Analysis generally discusses 2021 and 2020 items and year-to-year comparisons between
2021 and 2020. Discussions of 2019 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2020 and 2019 can be found in
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in Part II, Item 7 of our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the SEC on March 1, 2021.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)
Restaurants

Our restaurant businesses, which include Steak n Shake and Western Sizzlin, comprise 577 company-operated and franchise
restaurants as of December 31, 2021.

Steak n Shake Western Sizzlin
Company-  Franchise = Traditional = Company-
operated Partner Franchise operated Franchise Total

Total stores as of December 31, 2018........ 413 — 213 4 55 685
Corporate stores transitioned..................... (29) 29 —

Net restaurants opened (closed) ................ (16) — — — N (23)
Stores open on December 31, 2019........... 368 29 213 4 48 662
Corporate stores transitioned..................... (58) 57 1

Net restaurants opened (closed) ................ (34) — (20) (1) ) (64)
Stores open on December 31, 2020........... 276 86 194 3 39 598
Corporate stores transitioned..................... (73) 73 — — — —
Net restaurants opened (closed) ................ 4 — (16) — (1) 21)
Stores open on December 31, 2021........... 199 159 178 3 38 577

As of December 31, 2021, 42 of the 199 company-operated Steak n Shake stores were closed. Over the past two years, Steak n

Shake reopened 50 locations that were previously closed. We plan to refranchise a majority of our closed company-operated
restaurants.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Restaurant operations for 2021, 2020 and 2019 are summarized below.

2021 2020 2019
Revenue
NEt SALES. v $ 187,913 $ 306,577 $ 578,164
Franchise partner fees ...........ccoccevveienncne 55,641 22,213 3,829
Franchise royalties and fees...................... 21,736 18,794 23,360
Other reVeNUE ........ccvvveeeeeciieieeeeeeeieeeee 6,000 3,082 4,867
Total revenue.........cceeveevveevieeieeeie e 271,290 350,666 610,220
Restaurant cost of sales
Cost of f00d .....ccvveviieiicieeiiceecee, 55315 294 % 88,698  28.9 % 176,346  30.5 %
Restaurant operating Costs..........ccccecveneee 92,543 492 % 137,574 449 % 307,337 532 %
OCCUPANCY COSES ..eovvreirieniieeiieeiie e 19,633 10.4 % 20,383 6.6 % 17,266 3.0 %
Total cost of saleS........ccovvvvvviiiiiiiiiiieeeiien. 167,491 246,655 500,949
Selling, general and administrative
General and administrative...................... 39,940 14.7 % 35,922 10.2 % 47,685 7.8 %
Marketing .........cevvevveieieieieieieieeee s 13,923 5.1 % 21,507 6.1 % 39,476 6.5 %
Other eXpenses........cecvevveeierreeienreeeennenns 3,323 1.2 % 2,972 0.8 % 1,753 0.3 %
Total selling, general and administrative....... 57,186 21.1 % 60,401 17.2 % 88,914 14.6 %
IMPAIrMENts ......ccveeeieieieieeeeeeeeeeee e 4,635 1.7 % 23,646 6.7 % 8,186 1.3 %
Depreciation and amortization...................... 21,484 7.9 % 19,042 54 % 21,174 3.5%
Interest on finance leases and obligations..... 6,039 6,274 7,816
Earnings (loss) before income taxes............. 14,455 (5,352) (16,819)
Income tax expense (benefit)............cceeueennen. 3,220 (391) (6,085)

Contributions to net €arnings .............c.ce.e.... $ 11,235 $ (4,961) $ (10,734)

Cost of food, restaurant operating costs, and occupancy costs are expressed as a percentage of net sales.
General and administrative, marketing, other expenses, impairments, and depreciation and amortization are expressed as a percentage of total revenue.

The COVID-19 pandemic has adversely affected our restaurant operations and financial results. Our restaurants were required
to close their dining rooms during the first quarter of 2020.

The majority of Steak n Shake’s dining rooms remained closed through the end of 2020 but were reopened during 2021, and in
doing so implemented a self-service model. The transformation has resulted in higher capital expenditures in 2021 as compared
to prior years. Steak n Shake has spent approximately $40,000 in capital expenditures related to the conversion of table-service
restaurants to self-service restaurants.

Net sales during 2021 were $187,913, as compared to $306,577 during 2020. The decrease in revenue of company-owned
restaurants is primarily due to the shift of company units to franchise partner units. For company-operated units, sales to the end
customer are recorded as revenue generated by the Company, but for franchise partner units, only our share of the restaurant’s
profits, along with certain fees, are recorded as revenue. Because we derive most of our revenue from our share of the profits,
revenue will continue to decline as we transition from company-operated units to franchise partner units.

32



Management’s Discussion and Analysis (continued)

Franchise partner fees were $55,641 during 2021, as compared to $22,213 during 2020. As of December 31, 2021, there were
159 franchise partner units, as compared to 86 franchise partner units as of December 31, 2020. For a franchise partner to be
awarded a restaurant, he or she must demonstrate the gold standard in service.

The franchise royalties and fees generated by the traditional franchising business were $21,736 during 2021, as compared to
$18,794 during 2020. The increase in franchise royalties and fees was primarily due to the reopening of dining rooms in 2021.

Our drive-through, carryout, and delivery capabilities positioned us to improve profitability in 2021 and 2020; however, our
business has been challenged by COVID-19 related labor availability.

The cost of food in 2021 was $55,315, or 29.4% of net sales, as compared to $88,698, or 28.9% of net sales in 2020. Restaurant
operating costs during 2021 were $92,543, or 49.2% of net sales, as compared to $137,574, or 44.9% of net sales in 2020. The
decreases in the cost of food and operating costs are mainly attributable to the transitioning of company-operated units to
franchise partner units. The increase in operating costs as a percentage of net sales is mainly attributable to increasing wages —
in our pursuit to become the maximum-wage employer in our category.

Selling, general and administrative expenses during 2021 were $57,186, or 21.1% of total revenues compared to $60,401, or
17.2% of total revenues during 2020. General and administrative expenses increased as a percentage of net sales during 2021,
as compared to 2020, primarily because of an increase in legal fees. Marketing expenses decreased by $7,584 in 2021 as
compared to 2020, primarily by shifting to a digital strategy.

Asset impairments decreased $19,011 during 2021 compared to 2020. Higher asset impairments were recorded in 2020
primarily because of dining room closures and uncertainties caused by the pandemic.

Interest on obligations under leases was $6,039 during 2021, versus $6,274 during 2020. The year-over-year decrease in interest
expense is primarily attributable to the maturity and retirement of lease obligations.

Insurance

We view our insurance businesses as possessing two activities: underwriting and investing. Underwriting decisions are the
responsibility of the unit managers, whereas investing decisions are the responsibility of our Chairman and CEO, Sardar
Biglari. Our business units are operated under separate local management. Biglari Holdings’ insurance operations consist of
First Guard and Southern Pioneer.

Underwriting results of our insurance operations are summarized below.

2021 2020 2019
Underwriting gain attributable to:
FIESt GUATA ettt ettt ettt et et e e ene e $ 10,573  $ 9,379 § 6,477
SOUNEIN PIONEET ...cuviiiiiiiiiiciiieciieeieeee ettt 1,744 620 —
Pre-tax underwriting Gain..........cccvevveeierieeiieniieteeieeie ettt sre e sae e enees 12,317 9,999 6,477
TNCOME TAX EXPEIISE ....eenveiienieeiietieitete ettt ettt ettt et e et st ente st e besseenbeeneens 2,587 2,100 1,295
Net underwriting aiN........cocevvevieievirieiieiiee et $ 9,730 $ 7,899 $ 5,182
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Earnings of our insurance operations are summarized below.

2021 2020 2019

Premiums €arNEd .........oouviuiiiveiiiieeeeeeee ettt ettt $ 55411 $ 49,220 $ 28,746
INSUTANCE LOSSES . uvvviiieeeieeieee ettt et e e e eaeeseaeeeenns 27,649 24,828 16,924
UNAEIrWITING EXPEIISES ...eneevienieiieenteatieteesienteeneesteeeesseeneeeseesesneensesneessesneenneas 15,445 14,393 5,345
Pre-tax underwriting Gain..........cccveveeiereeiiesieieeeeee e 12,317 9,999 6,477
Other income and expenses

INVEStMENT INCOME ......oeiiieiiiieiie e e 704 1,212 790

Other INCOME (EXPENSE) ..vovvevrerieriiereiiieieetesteeeesteeseereeseesseessesseeseesseessenns 1,414 1,220 (164)

Total Other INCOMIE ... 2,118 2,432 626
Earnings before inCOme taXes.........ocveruieierierieiieiesiieieeeeeeeeeeeie e see e sne e 14,435 12,431 7,103
INCOME tAX EXPEIISE ..veevreeiiieiieeieeniee et eeite ettt e seae et eeeeeebeessaeeseessseeaeenneeens 3,145 2,591 1,519
Contribution t0 NEt CAIMINGS ......c.eeveevieririerieiesieseeietiee et ere e eee e seessesaeeens $ 11,290 $ 9,840 $ 5,584

Insurance premiums and other on the consolidated statement of earnings includes premiums earned, investment income, other
income, and commissions. Commissions are in other income (expense) in the above table.

First Guard

First Guard is a direct underwriter of commercial truck insurance, selling physical damage and nontrucking liability insurance
to truckers. First Guard’s insurance products are marketed primarily through direct response methods via the Internet or by
telephone. First Guard’s cost-efficient direct response marketing methods enable it to be a low-cost insurer. A summary of
First Guard’s underwriting results follows.

2021 2020 2019
Amount % Amount % Amount %
Premiums earned..........ccccoceveneneniennenn. $ 33,521 100.0 % $ 30,210 100.0 % $ 28,746 100.0 %
Insurance 10SSeS .......coveveeeveeeecieeecieeen, 16,338 48.7 % 14,031 46.5 % 16,924 58.9 %
Underwriting expenses...........cc.eeueeene. 6,610 19.7 % 6,800 22.5 % 5,345 18.6 %
Total losses and expenses ..................... 22,948 68.4 % 20,831 69.0 % 22,269 77.5 %
Pre-tax underwriting gain ..................... $ 10,573 $ 9,379 $ 6,477

Southern Pioneer

Southern Pioneer underwrites garage liability and commercial property insurance, as well as homeowners and dwelling fire
insurance. The financial results for Southern Pioneer are from the date of acquisition March 9, 2020. A summary of Southern
Pioneer’s underwriting results follows.

2021 2020
Amount % Amount %
Premiums €arned ......cooooiiiiieeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 21,890 100.0 % $ 19,010 100.0 %
INSUTANCE LOSSES . ..vvviiieeiieeeieeeeeeee ettt eee e 11,311 51.7 % 10,797 56.8 %
UNderwriting EXPEINSES ...cuveveeueerveeeesieeiesieeneeeseeseeseenseeeesseeseesseensenes 8,835 40.4 % 7,593 39.9 %
Total 10Sses and EXPENSES......cevvereeruieieriieieiiieie et 20,146 92.1 % 18,390 96.7 %
Pre-tax underwriting @ain...........ccocvevivverieverieierieieeeereeetee e $ 1,744 $ 620
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Insurance — Investment Income

A summary of net investment income attributable to our insurance operations follows.

2021 2020 2019
Interest, dividends, and other investment income:
FIrSt GUATA ...o.vvvieiiietceceeectee ettt $ 133§ 285 S 790
SOUthErN PIONEET .....eviiiiiiiiitiieie e 571 927 —
Pre-tax investment iNCOME ......c..ccveeuieiieiiieeiee et eiee e eieeeve e e seveeeraeene e 704 1,212 790
TNCOME TAX EXPENSE .eevveerrieierierieiiieeieeeteeteeseeeteestbeesseeseeeesaessseeseessseenseensns 148 255 166
Net inVEStMENE INCOIME ...ttt $ 556§ 957 § 624

We consider investment income as a component of our aggregate insurance operating results. However, we consider
investment gains and losses, whether realized or unrealized, as non-operating.

Oil and Gas

Southern Oil primarily operates oil and natural gas properties offshore in the shallow waters of the Gulf of Mexico. Southern
Oil was acquired on September 9, 2019. Earnings for Southern Oil are summarized below.

2021 2020 2019
Oil aNd @AS TEVENUE .....oovvvicvieiieieeiieieeie ettt $ 33,004 $ 26,255 $ 24,436
Oil and gas ProduCtion COSES ........cveruieruerieiieeiieieeieteeieeeeee e eeeseeeeesseeaenaeas 10,470 8,700 7,259
Depreciation, depletion, and aCCretion ............cecevevueeeerreerieieeieeeeie e 8,073 12,527 8,218
General and administrative €XPEenSEes ........ecververreeruerieneeieeeeeeseeeeenee e seeenees 4,748 3,010 927
Earnings before inCome taXes.........cueiuieierierienieie et 9,713 2,018 8,032
TNCOME TAX EXPEIISE ..eenieeieniieiietienie ettt ettt sttt ettt et e e e eee 2,185 128 2,111
Contribution t0 NEt AIMINES ........cvevverierierieeieiieeieteet et $ 7,528 % 1,890 $ 5,921

Initially, the COVID-19 pandemic caused oil demand to significantly decrease, creating oversupplied markets that have resulted
in lower commodity prices and margins. In response, the Company cut production and expenses in its oil and natural gas
business during 2020. In 2021, however, the significant increase in average crude oil and natural gas prices resulting from the
lifting of COVID-19 restrictions, the resumption of normal economic activity, and the resulting improvement in supply and

demand fundamentals caused Southern Oil to return to full production.

Brand Licensing

Maxim’s business lies principally in licensing and media. Earnings of operations are summarized below.

2021 2020 2019
Licensing and media TEVENUE ..........cocvevirverieriieieieieieieieteeetes e $ 3203 $ 4,083 $ 4,099
Licensing and Media COSt ........ouiiiriiririiiieie ettt 2,275 2,156 3,181
General and administrative EXPENSES ........evveverreeriereerierieereseesesseesseseesnenns 114 143 176
Earnings before inNCOMe taXes.........ocverueeeeririerieiesiieee st eee e enees 814 1,784 742
INCOME tAX EXPEIISE ..veenvreeiiieiieeieeiie et ettt et eete et e s e enteestaeebeessaeeaeenaeeens (1,550) 410 170
Contribution t0 NEt CAIMINGS ......ceevieviererierieierieieietieeee ettt ere e eee e seessesaeeens $ 2,364 $ 1,374 $ 572
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We acquired Maxim with the idea of transforming its business model. The magazine developed the Maxim brand, a franchise
we are utilizing to generate nonmagazine revenue, notably through licensing, a cash-generating business related to consumer
products, services, and events.

Investment Gains and Investment Partnership Gains

Investment gains were $6,401 ($4,832 net of tax) in 2021 and $3,644 ($2,877 net of tax) in 2020. Investment gains in 2021
included a gain from the sale of real estate of $5,047 ($3,785, net of tax). Dividends earned on investments are reported as
investment income by our insurance companies. We consider investment income as a component of our aggregate insurance
operating results. However, we consider investment gains and losses, whether realized or unrealized, as non-operating.

Earnings from our investments in partnerships are summarized below.

2021 2020 2019
Investment partnership gains (10SSES).......cvevvirrieriieieriieierieeeeee e $ 10,953 $ (43,032) $ 78,133
Tax exXpense (DENETI) ......ccuerieriiiieieiiee et 2,054 (10,526) 17,360
Contribution t0 NEt €arNINGS .........cveveviieriieriieeieeeeeteeee et $ 8,899 § (32,506) $ 60,773

Investment partnership gains include gains/losses from changes in market values of underlying investments and dividends
earned by the partnerships. Dividend income has a lower effective tax rate than income from capital gains. These gains and
losses have caused and will continue to cause significant volatility in our periodic earnings.

The investment partnerships hold the Company’s common stock as investments. The Company’s pro-rata share of its common
stock held by the investment partnerships is recorded as treasury stock even though these shares are legally outstanding. Gains
and losses on Company common stock included in the earnings of the partnerships are eliminated in the Company’s
consolidated financial results.

Interest Expense

The Company’s interest expense is summarized below.

2021 2020 2019
Interest expense on notes payable and other borrowings .............cccceeerenenne. $ (1,121) $ (9,262) $ (12,442)
TaX DENETIL...cviiiiiiiie ettt e (280) (2,322) (3,625)
Interest eXPense NEt OF LAX ......c.eciiiivieriiiiitieiei ettt $ (841) $ (6,940) $ (8,817)

Interest expense during 2021 decreased by $8,141 compared to 2020 due to the repayment of Steak n Shake’s term loan in full
on February 19, 2021.

Income Taxes

Consolidated income tax expense was $6,789 in 2021 versus a benefit of $12,212 in 2020. Income tax expense increased during
2021 compared to 2020, primarily due to a tax benefit of $10,526 for investment partnership losses of $43,032 in 2020.

Corporate and Other

Corporate expenses exclude the activities of the restaurant, insurance, brand licensing, and oil and gas businesses. Corporate
and other net losses of $9,829 during 2021 increased compared to 2020 due to higher legal expenses.

Financial Condition
Our consolidated shareholders’ equity on December 31, 2021 was $587,696, an increase of $22,868 compared to the

December 31, 2020 balance. The increase was primarily due to net income of $35,478 offset by an increase in treasury stock of
$12,234.
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Consolidated cash and investments are summarized below.

December 31,

2021 2020
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS. ........ccooiiiiiiii et $ 42,349 § 24,503
TNVESTIMENLS ....viiiiiee et e et e et e e st e e etbeeetsaeeasbaeeensbeeessaeessseeeansseeennsens 83,061 94,861
Fair value of interest in investment partnerships ........c.cocvecverievieiierieiieieeeee e 474,201 590,926
Total cash and INVESTMENTS ........oouuiiiiiiiieiiee et e e e e e e e e s e e e e e e e eeaaaeeeas 599,611 710,290
Less: portion of Company stock held by investment partnerships ...........ccceeeevvereecieneeniennnenne. (223,802) (171,376)
Carrying value of cash and investments on balance sheet...........ccocvevvevieviiiieniiiienecieeeeeene $ 375,809 $ 538,914

Unrealized gains/losses of Biglari Holdings’ stock held by the investment partnerships are eliminated in the Company’s
consolidated financial results.

Liquidi

Oli]r bal?:nce sheet continues to maintain significant liquidity. Consolidated cash flow activities are summarized below.

2021 2020 2019

Net cash provided by operating activities ........c..cveeveeerirerirererererieseseeenes $ 228,767 $ 117,556  $ 93,683
Net cash used in INVEStNG ACtIVITICS. ... .cvervrerierrierieeieieeriereeeesreeree e eeeennes (58,525) (129,487) (69,982)
Net cash used in financing activities ..........cceeovereriererieneeiereeecee e (156,157) (29,109) (8,010)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash...........cocovieiiiieiinienccee e (64) 10 (5)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash................... $ 14,021 $ (41,030) $ 15,686

In 2021, cash from operating activities increased by $111,211, as compared to 2020. The increase was primarily attributable to
distributions from investment partnerships of $180,170 for 2021 and $98,330 for 2020. The distributions during 2021 were
primarily used to repay Steak n Shake’s term loan.

Net cash used in investing activities decreased during 2021 by $70,962, as compared to 2020. The decrease was primarily due
to the acquisition of Southern Pioneer and purchases of limited partner interests during 2020.

Net cash used in financing activities increased by $127,048 in 2021, as compared to 2020. The increase was primarily due to
the repayment of Steak n Shake’s outstanding balance of its term debt during 2021.

We intend to meet the working capital needs of our operating subsidiaries, principally through cash flows generated from
operations and cash on hand. We continually review available financing alternatives.

Steak n Shake Credit Facility

On March 19, 2014, Steak n Shake and its subsidiaries entered into a credit agreement that provided for a senior secured term
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $220,000. The term loan was scheduled to mature on March 19, 2021. As of
December 31, 2020, $152,506 was outstanding. The Company repaid Steak n Shake’s outstanding balance in full on February
19, 2021.

Western Sizzlin Revolver
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, Western Sizzlin had no debt outstanding under its revolver.

Critical Accounting Policies

Certain accounting policies require us to make estimates and judgments in determining the amounts reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Such estimates and judgments necessarily involve varying, and possibly significant, degrees
of uncertainty. Accordingly, certain amounts currently recorded in the financial statements will likely be adjusted in the future
based on new available information and changes in other facts and circumstances. A discussion of our principal accounting
policies that required the application of significant judgments as of December 31, 2021, follows.
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Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Biglari Holdings Inc. and the wholly owned subsidiaries of
Biglari Holdings Inc. The analysis as to whether to consolidate an entity is subject to a significant amount of judgment. All
intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.

Our interests in the investment partnerships are accounted for as equity method investments because of our retained limited
partner interest in the investment partnerships. The Company records gains from investment partnerships (inclusive of the
investment partnerships’ unrealized gains and losses on their securities) in the consolidated statement of earnings based on our
proportional ownership interest in the investment partnerships.

Impairment of Restaurant Long-lived Assets

We review company-operated restaurants for impairment on a restaurant-by-restaurant basis when events or circumstances
indicate a possible impairment. Assets included in the impairment assessment generally consist of property, equipment and
leasehold improvements directly associated with an individual restaurant as well as any related finance or operating lease assets.
We test for impairment by comparing the carrying value of the asset to the undiscounted future cash flows expected to be
generated by the asset. If the total estimated future cash flows are less than the carrying amount of the asset, the carrying value
is written down to the estimated fair value, and a loss is recognized in earnings. Determining the future cash flows expected to
be generated by an asset requires significant judgment regarding future performance of the asset, fair market value if the asset
were to be sold, and other financial and economic assumptions.

Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

Crude oil and natural gas reserves are estimates of future production that impact certain asset and expense accounts. Proved
reserves are the estimated quantities of oil and gas that geoscience and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable certainty
to be economically producible in the future under existing economic conditions, operating methods and government
regulations. Proved reserves include both developed and undeveloped volumes. Proved developed reserves represent volumes
expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing equipment and operating methods. Proved undeveloped reserves
are volumes expected to be recovered from new wells on undrilled proved acreage, or from existing wells where expenditure is
required for recompletion. We estimate our proved oil and natural gas reserves in accordance with the guidelines established by
the SEC. Due to the inherent uncertainties and the limited nature of reservoir data, estimates of reserves are subject to change as
additional information becomes available.

Income Taxes

We record deferred tax assets or liabilities based on differences between financial reporting and the tax basis of assets and
liabilities using currently enacted rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. We record
deferred tax assets to the extent we believe there will be sufficient future taxable income to utilize those assets prior to their
expiration. To the extent deferred tax assets are unable to be utilized, we would record a valuation allowance against the
unrealizable amount and record that amount as a charge against earnings. Due to changing tax laws and state income tax rates,
significant judgment is required to estimate the effective tax rate applicable to tax differences arising from reversal in the future.
We must also make estimates about the sufficiency of taxable income in future periods to offset any deductions related to
deferred tax assets currently recorded.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We evaluate goodwill and any indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances
indicate impairment may have occurred. Goodwill impairment occurs when the estimated fair value of goodwill is less than its
carrying value. The valuation methodology and underlying financial information included in our determination of fair value
require significant managerial judgment. We use both market and income approaches to derive fair value. The methods behind
these two approaches include, but are not limited to, comparable market multiples, long-term projections of future financial
performance, and the selection of appropriate discount rates used to determine the present value of future cash flows.

Leases

We determine whether a contract is or contains a lease at contract inception based on the presence of identified assets and our
right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefit from, or to direct the use of, such assets. When we determine a lease
exists, we record a right-of-use asset and corresponding lease liability on our consolidated balance sheets. Right-of-use assets
represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term. Lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease
payments arising from the lease. Right-of-use assets are recognized at commencement date at the value of the lease liability and
are adjusted for any prepayments, lease incentives received, and initial direct costs incurred. Lease liabilities are recognized at
the lease commencement date based on the present value of remaining lease payments over the lease term. As the discount rate
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implicit in the lease is not readily determinable in most of our leases, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the
information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments. Our lease terms include
options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that we will exercise that option. We do not record lease
contracts with a term of 12 months or less on our consolidated balance sheets. We recognize fixed lease expense for operating
leases on a straight-line basis over the lease term. For finance leases, we recognize amortization expense on the right-of-use
asset and interest expense on the lease liability over the lease term.

Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This report includes forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In
general, forward-looking statements include estimates of future revenues, cash flows, capital expenditures, or other financial
items, and assumptions underlying any of the foregoing. Forward-looking statements reflect management’s current expectations
regarding future events and use words such as “anticipate,” “believe,” “expect,” “may,” and other similar terminology. A
forward-looking statement is neither a prediction nor a guarantee of future events or circumstances, and those future events or
circumstances may not occur. Investors should not place undue reliance on the forward-looking statements, which speak only as
of the date of this report. These forward-looking statements are all based on currently available operating, financial, and
competitive information and are subject to various risks and uncertainties. Our actual future results and trends may differ
materially depending on a variety of factors, many beyond our control, including, but not limited to, the risks and uncertainties
described in Item 1A, Risk Factors set forth above. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise them, except as
may be required by law.

EERNT3
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The majority of our investments are conducted through investment partnerships, which generally hold common stocks. We also
hold marketable securities directly. Through investment partnerships we hold concentrated positions. A significant decline in
the general stock market or in the prices of major investments may produce a large net loss and a decrease in our consolidated
shareholders’ equity. Decreases in values of equity investments can have a materially adverse effect on our earnings and on
consolidated shareholders’ equity.

We prefer to hold equity investments for very long periods of time so we are not troubled by short-term price volatility with
respect to our investments. Our interests in the investment partnerships are committed on a rolling 5-year basis, and any
distributions upon our withdrawal of funds will be paid out over two years (and may be paid in kind rather than in cash). Market
prices for equity securities are subject to fluctuation. Consequently, the amount realized in the subsequent sale of an investment
may significantly differ from the reported market value. A hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the market price of our
investments would result in a respective increase or decrease in the fair market value of our investments of $33,346 along with
a corresponding change in shareholders’ equity of approximately 4%.

We have had minimal exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations in 2021, 2020 and 2019.
Southern Oil’s business is fundamentally a commodity business. This means Southern Oil’s operations and earnings may be
significantly affected by changes in oil and gas prices. Such commodity prices depend on local, regional, and global events or

conditions that affect supply and demand for oil and gas. Any material decline in crude oil or natural gas prices could have a
material adverse effect on Southern Oil’s operations.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Biglari Holdings Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Biglari Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as
of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income, changes in
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes
(collectively referred to as the “financial statements”). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission and our report dated February 26, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Emphasis of a Matter

As discussed in Note 3 and Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company and its subsidiaries have invested in
investment partnerships in the form of limited partnership interests. These investment partnerships represent related parties, and
such investments are subject to a rolling five-year lock up period under the terms of the respective partnership agreements for
the investment partnerships. The value of these investments reported in the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020 totals $250,399,000 and $419,550,000, respectively. Our opinion is not modified with respect to
this matter.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current-period audit of the financial statements that
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The
communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and
we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the
accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Property and Equipment — Refer to Note 5 to the financial statements
Critical Audit Matter Description

Company-operated restaurants and associated long-lived assets are evaluated for impairment on a restaurant-by-restaurant basis
when events or circumstances indicate a possible impairment may have occurred. The Company’s evaluation of potential
impairment of long-lived assets involves the comparison of undiscounted future cash flows expected to be generated by the
asset group, generally an individual restaurant, over the expected remaining useful life of that asset group, to the respective
carrying amount. The Company also applied a market analysis for certain properties. The Company’s undiscounted future cash
flows analysis requires management to make estimates and assumptions related to future revenues, labor costs and planned
operating periods. To the extent that the undiscounted cash flows are not sufficient to recover the related assets, the Company
estimates the fair value of the related assets using a discounted cash flow model to assess the amount of any impairment.

We identified the impairment of company-operated restaurant long-lived assets as a critical audit matter because of the
estimates and assumptions required by management to evaluate the potential impairment of these asset groups. This required a
high degree of auditor judgment and an increased extent of effort when performing audit procedures to evaluate the
reasonableness of certain assumptions, in management’s undiscounted and discounted future cash flows analyses, including
revenue growth, food costs, labor costs, and planned operating periods of restaurants.

How the Critical Audit Matter Was Addressed in the Audit

Our audit procedures related to the undiscounted and discounted future cash flows analysis and the assessment of the expected
remaining holding period included the following, among others:

*  We tested the effectiveness of controls over management’s evaluation of the recoverability of long-lived assets,
including those over revenue, food costs, labor costs and the planned operating period for the store.

*  We evaluated the undiscounted future cash flows analysis, including estimates of revenue growth, labor costs and
planned operating periods of restaurants by (1) evaluating the underlying source information and assumptions used by
management (2) performing sensitivity analyses and (3) testing the mathematical accuracy of the undiscounted future
cash flows analysis.

* We evaluated the reasonableness of management’s undiscounted future cash flows analysis by comparing
management’s projections to the Company’s historical results and available market data.

*  We evaluated the discount rates used by management in the performance of discounted cash flow analyses by testing
management’s calculation, performing sensitivity analyses, comparing components to external market information as

applicable, and assessed the mathematical accuracy of the Company’s calculations of potential impairment.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Indianapolis, Indiana
February 26, 2022

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2003.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of Biglari Holdings Inc.
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Biglari Holdings Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of
December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2021, of the Company and our
report dated February 26, 2022, expressed an unqualified opinion on those financial statements and included an emphasis of a
matter paragraph relating to the Company’s investment in related party investment partnerships.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP
Indianapolis, Indiana
February 26, 2022
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BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(dollars in thousandls)

December 31,

2021 2020
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash eQUIVALIENTS .........cc.eiiiiiiieie ittt ereesbe e beesaesbeessessaens $ 42,349 $ 24,503
TV S MICIIES ...ttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e —————————————.s 83,061 94,861
RECEIVADICS. ...ttt ettt ettt e st e seeseeseentesseenaesseensenseens 28,508 19,185
INIVEIEOTICS ...ttt ettt ettt ettt bttt e e st e st ent e st e bt ebe et e ebesbeebebebeneenean 3,803 2,737
OTNET CUITENT @SSELS ..ieeiieeeeeeeeie e e eeee e e e e et e e e e e e te e e e e e eesaaeeeeeeeaaaeeeeseeasaeeeeesensseeeessanraeneeeeas 7,088 6,492
TOtAl CUITENE ASSCLS.....eevieureiieieitieteeiteteeitesteetteteeeesseeseesseessesseessesssensessseseessesseensesseensesssensensees 164,809 147,778
Property and eqUIPIMENT ......c.ociiiiiiiiiiercce et 349,351 316,122
OPETAtING [EASE ASSELS ....euverveeiieiiertietieetieie et ettt eteste st e esee bt eieesteesseeseenseeseeseeneeseeneensesnnenseennens 42,538 42,832
GOOAWILL ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e e b e teesbeeseesseeseessessaesseensesseessesseensensaens 53,547 53,596
Other INtANZIDIE ASSELS ......eeueiiiieiiitiete ettt ettt et eae et eee e st enaeeneeaeas 23,463 24,065
InVesStment PArtNETSHIPS ......c.couiiiiiiiitiriertetet ettt ettt 250,399 419,550
ORI @SSELS ...ttt ettt e bt bt ettt bt sb et et e e b et et et et e st en e et eneeneens 10,700 14,025
Total assets $ 894,807 $ 1,017,968
Liabilities and shareholders’ equity
Liabilities
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued EXPENSES........cuereiriririreririenenientete ettt e $ 100,467 $ 90,892
Loss and 105s adjuStment EXPENSES ........cc.ervirirrerierierienieieieiteieeieete st sttt sttt eaeeieeaeas 14,609 14,652
UNEAINEA PIEIMIUITIS «....vitietietietiett ettt ettt ettt e s et e st e sttt sttt ebeebe st e bease s ensenseneeneeneeneeneeseanes 11,667 13,277
Current portion of [€ase OBIIZAIONS .....c..ccveiiiiiiiiiiiieneteeeeete e 16,898 17,365
Current portion 0f NOtES PAYADIE .......c.eeviiiiiiiiiieereeee e — 152,261
TOtAl CUITENT LHADTIIEIES ...t e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e e s e e e aaaeeeeees 143,641 288,447
LeaSE ODLIATIONS. .. .eveeeieeieiteeie ettt ettt ettt ettt et e st e e s et enbe e st e s e ese e seenteeseenseeneensesneenseeneas 104,479 111,645
DIETEITEA LAXES .ttt e et e e e e et e e e e e e et eesee s e eeeseseeaateeeesesaaeeeeeas 46,533 41,346
Asset retirement ObIIZATIONS. ......coeiiiiiiiiiiineret ettt e 10,389 10,022
(0831 21 031 18 T PSR R PRSP 2,069 1,680
Total liabilities 307,111 453,140
Shareholders’ equity
COMIMON STOCK ...ttt ettt b ettt e et e st e et et e s bt et e seeeaeebeensesnnens 1,138 1,138
Additional paid-in capital...........ccoivieiiiiiiiii e 381,788 381,788
REtaINEd CAIMINES ....e.eiuienieieieiee ettt ettt ettt be bbbt sae et nee 608,528 573,050
Accumulated other comprehensive 10SS.........couiviiriirierieiiiiiiiiereeee e (1,907) (1,531)
TTEASULY SLOCK, AL COSL....iuiiiiieiiieiiiciicte ettt (401,851) (389,617)
Biglari Holdings Inc. shareholders’ equity 587,696 564,828
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 894,807 $ 1,017,968

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS
(dollars in thousands except per-share amounts)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Revenues
Restaurant OPErations..........coveueruierueriesieeeiesteeeesieeee sttt eae e eeesseeneeeeeens $ 271,290 $ 350,666 $ 610,220
Insurance premiums and Other...........cceevevieriiiierieiieie e 58,609 52,679 30,083
Ol AN ZAS .ttt ettt 33,004 26,255 24,436
Licensing and media.........c.ccveieriieierieierieieee et es 3,203 4,083 4,099
366,106 433,683 668,838
Cost and expenses
Restaurant Cost 0F SALES.......c..ooiiiiiiiieiiiieeee e 167,491 246,655 500,949
Insurance losses and underwriting eXpenses .........coceeveruereeruereenieeeenieeeene 43,094 39,221 22,269
Oil and gas producCtion COSES.........couerieruerierieriieiesteeieseeieeeeeee e eeee e e 10,470 8,700 7,259
Licensing and media COSES ......c.ovviriiririiriiiierieerecieeeesre et eee e e 2,275 2,156 3,181
Selling, general and adminiStrative...........cccceeveriieiiereeiereee e 76,018 76,360 100,150
IMPAITINEILS ...ttt esae e e eneenseeneennas 4,635 23,646 8,186
Depreciation, depletion, and amortization...............c.eeeeeveeeerueeeerieeeesneennens 30,050 32,222 29,578
Interest eXPense 0N 1€ASES ......ccuevveeiiriieiieiieiieie e 6,039 6,274 7,816
Interest expense on Note PAYADIC ........cc.evvveriiieeriiiieieeieeeeee e 1,121 9,262 12,442
341,193 444,496 691,830
Other income (expenses)
INVESTMENE GAINS ...vvevvieeierieeieeieeie ettt ettt eee b e seesbeesaesaeeneeenas 6,401 3,644 —
Investment partnership gains (I0SSES)......coeeruerieririieriiiee e 10,953 (43,032) 78,133
Total other INCOME (EXPENSES) ...vveuvrrrrerrieriereerierreeeerteseessesaesseesaensenssenseens 17,354 (39,388) 78,133
Earnings (loss) before income taxes 42,267 (50,201) 55,141
Income tax expense (Denefit).........ccooceererieiiiierecee e 6,789 (12,212) 9,761
Net earnings (loss) $ 35478 $ (37,989) $ 45,380
Net earnings per equivalent Class A share *............cccoceeveiereieicieereeeeeee, $ 111.83  $ (110.05) $ 131.64

* Net earnings per equivalent Class B share outstanding are one-fifth of the equivalent Class A share or $22.37 for 2021, $(22.01) for 2020
and $26.33 for 2019.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(dollars in thousandls)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Net earnings (loss) $ 35478 $ (37,989) $ 45,380
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation............occevuieiereeienieeieneeeesieeee e (376) 1,279 (294)
Other comprehensive income (10SS), NEt .....cc.oeieierieiiiiiiiriee e (376) 1,279 (294)
Total comprehensive inCome (10SS).....veiveeuerieriirieiieieieeeee e $ 35,102 $ (36,710) $ 45,086

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in thousandls)

Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Operating activities
Net €arnings (10SS) ....vovevrueiviueeeeieieieteeeeeetet ettt seseas $ 35478 S (37,989) $ 45,380
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to operating cash flows:
Depreciation and amortiZation ............ecueeeererieneeiene e 30,050 32,222 29,578
Provision for deferred inCOME taXxes ........cceeevvveeeeviieeieeeeeeeeeeeeeee e 5,269 (12,216) (38,545)
Asset impairments and other non-cash eXpenses..........ccoeeevveveerieeeenneennnns 4,772 24,636 9,113
(Gains) losses on diSposal Of @SSELS ......ccuevveriirieriieieeee e (25) (868) 264
Investment (ZaINS) LOSSES .....evvieiieieiieieiieie sttt ees (6,214) (4,856) (1,172)
Investment partnership (gains) loSSES .......ceoveveeririeririeiiieeeeeeeee (10,953) 43,032 (78,133)
Distributions from investment partnerships...........cccceevveveevvcenicninincnene. 180,170 98,330 129,329
Changes in receivables and iNVENTOTICS ........ceevveeveeriereerieeierreeeenre e (9,324) 7,014 3,669
Changes in Other aSSETS .......cc.eeriiiiiriiiieie et 136 733 10,450
Changes in accounts payable and accrued eXpenses..........ccveverveeeeneeeneene. (592) (32,482) (16,250)
Net cash provided by operating activities 228,767 117,556 93,683
Investing activities
Capital eXPENAITUIES. .....cveeeieiieeieiieierie ettt ese e e ese e (64,549) (20,702) (17,679)
Proceeds from property and equipment disposals ...........ccccevererieinincnnnn. 10,101 4,415 4,577
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired...........ccccceeeevirvinccnncncnenne. — (36,187) (51,062)
Distributions from investment partnerships...........ccoeevevveeierieieerienieeriennnens — — 40,000
Purchases of limited partner interests ...........ooceevereereiieneiieneeieieeeieane (12,300) (70,130) (40,000)
Purchases of INVEStMENTS .........ccveeiuiiiiieiiiiiecieeeee et (110,199) (299,950) (154,848)
Redemptions of fixed maturity SECUITHIS ......cceevvereereiiieiieiesieeieieeeeeieans 118,422 293,067 149,030
Net cash used in investing activities (58,525) (129,487) (69,982)
Financing activities
Payments on revolving credit facility ........cccoooevereieiiiiiiieeeeeeeen — (500) —
Proceeds from revolving credit facility........ccocveeevieieniiierieeeeeeeee — 500 —
Principal payments on long-term debt ............ccoovevieriiieniiiienieeieieeees (149,952) (23,279) (2,200)
Principal payments on direct financing lease obligations.............c.ccccoc..... (6,205) (5,830) (5,810)
Net cash used in financing activities (156,157) (29,109) (8,010)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash (64) 10 &)
Increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash................... 14,021 (41,030) 15,686
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of period.................. 29,666 70,696 55,010
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period..................... $ 43,687 $ 29,666 $ 70,696
Year Ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS..........c.covieiiiiieiiiieie e $ 42,349 $ 24,503 $ 67,772
Restricted cash included in other long-term assets..........cccecveveeceriereneeneenne. 1,338 5,163 2,924
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of period..................... $ 43,687 $ 29,666 $ 70,696

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Balance at December 31, 2018..............
Net earnings........ccecvevveeverevevenreeennenn.
Adoption of accounting standards.........
Other comprehensive income, net........
Adjustment to treasury stock for
holdings in investment partnerships...
Balance at December 31, 2019.............
Net arnings........coecveveeeeereeeveneeeeennenns
Other comprehensive income, net........
Adjustment to treasury stock for
holdings in investment partnerships...
Balance at December 31, 2020..............
Net earnings (10SS) ....ceeeverveeverreiennnnne.
Other comprehensive income, net........
Adjustment to treasury stock for
holdings in investment partnerships...
Balance at December 31, 2021

(dollars in thousandls)

Accumulated
Additional Other
Common Paid- Retained  Comprehensive  Treasury
Stock In Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Stock Total

$§ 1,138 $ 381,904 $ 564,160 $ (2,516) $(374,231) $570,455
45,380 45,380
1,499 1,499
(294) (294)
(116) (626) (742)
$§ 1,138 $ 381,788 $ 611,039 $ (2,810) $(374,857) $616,298
(37,989) (37,989)
1,279 1,279
(14,760)  (14,760)
$ 1,138 $ 381,788 $ 573,050 $ (1,531) $(389,617) $564,828
35,478 35,478
(376) (376)
(12,234)  (12,234)
$§ 1,138 $§ 381,788 §$ 608,528 $ (1,907) $(401,851) $587,696

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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BIGLARI HOLDINGS INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Years Ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019)
(dollars in thousands, except share and per-share data)

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

Biglari Holdings Inc. is a holding company owning subsidiaries engaged in a number of diverse business activities, including
property and casualty insurance, licensing and media, restaurants, and oil and gas. The Company’s largest operating
subsidiaries are involved in the franchising and operating of restaurants. Biglari Holdings is founded and led by Sardar Biglari,
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.

Biglari Holdings’ management system combines decentralized operations with centralized finance decision-making. Operating
decisions for the various business units are made by their respective managers. All major investment and capital allocation
decisions are made for the Company and its subsidiaries by Mr. Biglari.

As of December 31, 2021, Mr. Biglari beneficially owns shares of the Company that represent approximately 66.2% of the
economic interest and approximately 70.4% of the voting interest.

Overview of the Impact of COVID-19

The novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”) was declared a pandemic by the World Health Organization in March of 2020.
Government and private sector responses to contain its spread began to affect our operating businesses significantly that same
month. COVID-19 and its variants have adversely affected nearly all of our operations, although the effects vary significantly.
The risks and uncertainties resulting from the pandemic may continue to affect our future earnings, cash flows, and financial
condition. The extent of such effects over the long term cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.

Business Acquisitions
On March 9, 2020, Biglari Holdings acquired the stock of Southern Pioneer Property & Casualty Insurance Company and its
agency, Southern Pioneer Insurance Agency, Inc. (collectively “Southern Pioneer”). Southern Pioneer underwrites garage
liability insurance and commercial property coverage, as well as homeowners and dwelling fire insurance coverage. The
financial results for Southern Pioneer are included from the date of acquisition. Pro-forma financial information of Southern
Pioneer is not material.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries, including Steak
n Shake Inc., Western Sizzlin Corporation, First Guard Insurance Company, Maxim Inc., Southern Pioneer, and Southern
Oil. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash

Cash equivalents primarily consist of U.S. Government securities and money market accounts, all of which have original
maturities of three months or less. Cash equivalents are carried at fair value. The statement of cash flows includes restricted
cash with cash and cash equivalents.

Investments

We classify investments in fixed maturity securities at the acquisition date as either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity and
re-evaluate the classification at each balance sheet date. Securities classified as held-to-maturity are carried at amortized cost,
reflecting the ability and intent to hold the securities to maturity. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, all investments were
classified as available-for-sale and carried at fair value with net unrealized gains or losses reported in the statements of
earnings. Realized gains and losses on disposals of investments are determined by the specific identification of cost of
investments sold. Dividends earned on investments are reported as investment income by our insurance companies. We
consider investment income as a component of our aggregate insurance operating results. However, we consider investment
gains and losses, whether realized or unrealized, as non-operating.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Investment Partnerships

The Company holds a limited interest in The Lion Fund, L.P. and The Lion Fund II, L.P. (collectively the “investment
partnerships”). Biglari Capital Corp. (“Biglari Capital”), an entity solely owned by Mr. Biglari, is the general partner of the
investment partnerships. Our interests in the investment partnerships are accounted as equity method investments because of
our retained limited partner interests. The Company records investment partnership gains (inclusive of the investment
partnerships’ unrealized gains and losses on their securities) as a component of other income based on our proportional
ownership interest in the partnerships. The investment partnerships are, for purposes of generally accepted accounting
principles (“GAAP”), investment companies under the AICPA Audit and Accounting Guide /nvestment Companies.

Concentration of Equity Price Risk

The majority of our investments are conducted through investment partnerships that generally hold common stocks. We also
hold marketable securities directly. We concentrate a high percentage of the investments in a small number of equity securities.
A significant decline in the general stock market or in the prices of major investments may have a materially adverse effect on
our earnings and on consolidated shareholders’ equity.

Receivables

Our accounts receivable balance consists primarily of franchisee, customer, and other receivables. We carry our accounts
receivable at cost less an allowance for doubtful accounts, which is based on a history of past write-offs and collections and
current credit conditions. Allowance for doubtful accounts was $505 and $6,859 at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out method) or market, and consist primarily of restaurant food items
and supply inventory.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation and amortization are
recognized on the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets (10 to 30 years for buildings and land
improvements, and 3 to 10 years for equipment). Leasehold improvements are amortized on the straight-line method over the
shorter of the estimated useful lives of the improvements or the term of the related leases. Interest costs associated with the
construction of new restaurants are capitalized. Major improvements are also capitalized while repairs and maintenance are
expensed as incurred. We review our long-lived restaurant assets whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that
their carrying amounts may not be recoverable. For purposes of this assessment, assets are evaluated at the lowest level for
which there are identifiable cash flows, which is generally at the individual restaurant level. Assets included in the impairment
assessment generally consist of property, equipment, and leasehold improvements directly associated with an individual
restaurant as well as any related finance or operating lease assets. If the future undiscounted cash flows of an asset are less than
the recorded value, an impairment is recorded for the difference between the carrying value and the estimated fair value of the
asset.

Oil and Gas Properties

The successful efforts method is used for crude oil and natural gas exploration and production activities. All costs for
development wells, related plant and equipment, proved mineral interests in crude oil and natural gas properties, and related
asset retirement obligation assets are capitalized. Costs of exploratory wells are capitalized pending determination of whether
the wells found proved reserves. Costs of wells that are assigned proved reserves remain capitalized. Costs are also capitalized
for exploratory wells that have found crude oil and natural gas reserves, even if the reserves cannot be classified as proved
when the drilling is completed, provided the exploratory well has found a sufficient quantity of reserves to justify its completion
as a producing well and the company is making sufficient progress assessing the reserves and the economic and operating
viability of the project. All other exploratory wells and costs are expensed. There were no capitalized costs for exploratory
activities during 2021.

Asset Retirement Obligations

Asset retirement obligations relate to future costs associated with the plugging and abandonment of oil and gas wells, the
removal of equipment and facilities from leased acreage, and the return of such land to its original condition. The Company
determines its asset retirement obligation amounts by calculating the present value of the estimated future cash outflows
associated with its plug and abandonment obligations. The fair value of a liability for an asset retirement obligation is recorded
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

in the period in which it is incurred, and the cost of such liability increases the carrying amount of the related long-lived asset
by the same amount. The liability is accreted each period through charges to depreciation, depletion, and amortization expense,
and the capitalized cost is depleted on a unit-of-production basis over the proved developed reserves of the related asset. If an
asset retirement obligation is settled for an amount other than the recorded amount, a gain or loss is recognized.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill and indefinite life intangible assets are not amortized, but are tested for potential impairment on an annual basis using
either a qualitative or quantitative approach, or more often if events or circumstances change that could cause goodwill or
indefinite life intangible assets to become impaired. Other purchased intangible assets are amortized over their estimated useful
lives, generally on a straight-line basis. We perform reviews for impairment of intangible assets whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognized when
estimated future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition are less than its carrying
value. When an impairment is identified, we reduce the carrying value of the asset to its estimated fair value. During 2021, no
impairments were recorded to goodwill and other intangible assets. During 2020, we recorded an impairment to goodwill of
$300 and to indefinite life intangible assets of $3,728. No impairment was recorded in 2019. Refer to Note 7 for information
regarding our goodwill and other intangible assets.

Dual Class Common Stock

The Company has two classes of common stock, designated Class A common stock and Class B common stock. Each Class A
common share is entitled to one vote. Class B common stock possesses economic rights equal to one-fifth (1/5th) of such rights
of Class A common stock; however, Class B common stock has no voting rights.

The following table presents shares authorized, issued, and outstanding.

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 December 31, 2019

Class A Class B Class A Class B Class A Class B
Common stock authorized...........c.ccccovenene. 500,000 10,000,000 500,000 10,000,000 500,000 10,000,000
Common stock issued and outstanding........ 206,864 2,068,640 206,864 2,068,640 206,364 2,068,640

Earnings Per Share

Earnings per share of common stock is based on the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year. The shares
of Company stock attributable to our limited partner interest in the investment partnerships — based on our proportional
ownership during this period — are considered treasury stock on the consolidated balance sheet and thereby deemed not to be
included in the calculation of weighted average common shares outstanding. However, these shares are legally outstanding.

The Company has applied the “two-class method” of computing earnings per share as prescribed in Accounting Standards
Codification (“ASC”) 260, “Earnings Per Share.” The equivalent Class A common stock applied for computing earnings per
share excludes the proportional shares of Biglari Holdings’ stock held by the investment partnerships. In the tabulation below is
the equivalent Class A common stock for earnings per share. There are no dilutive securities outstanding.

2021 2020 2019
Equivalent Class A common stock outstanding ...........c.cceceeververerieneeiienienne 620,592 620,592 620,592
Proportional ownership of Company stock held by investment partnerships . 303,341 275,400 275,856
Equivalent Class A common stock for earnings per share .........c..cocceceeenennene 317,251 345,192 344,736
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Revenue Recognition

Restaurant operations
Restaurant operations revenues were disaggregated as follows.

2021 2020 2019
INEE SALES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt eae et eneas $ 187913 § 306,577 $ 578,164
Franchise partner f8eS.......c.cviiiiriiiieiiciecieieeeeee e 55,641 22,213 3,829
Franchise royalties and feeS............ccevieiiiieriiiieiecieeeeee e 21,736 18,794 23,360
O ettt ettt 6,000 3,082 4,867

$ 271,290 § 350,666  $ 610,220

Net Sales

Net sales are composed of retail sales of food through company-operated stores. Company-operated store revenues are
recognized, net of discounts and sales taxes, when our obligation to perform is satisfied at the point of sale. Sales taxes related
to these sales are collected from customers and remitted to the appropriate taxing authority and are not reflected in the
Company’s consolidated statements of earnings as revenue.

Franchise Partner Fees

Franchise partner fees are composed of up to 15% of sales as well as 50% of profits. We are therefore fully affected by the
operating results of the business, unlike in a traditional franchising arrangement, where the franchisor obtains a royalty fee
based on sales only. We generate most of our revenue from our share of the franchise partners’ profits. An initial franchise fee
of ten thousand dollars is recognized when the operator becomes a franchise partner. The Company recognizes franchise partner
fees monthly as underlying restaurant sales occur.

The Company leases or subleases property and equipment to franchisees under lease arrangements. Both real estate and
equipment rental payments are charged to franchisees and are recognized in accordance with ASC 842, “Leases”. During the
years ended 2021, 2020 and 2019, restaurant operations recognized $15,483, $5,675, and $1,084, respectively, in franchise
partner fees related to rental income.

Franchise Royalties and Fees

Franchise royalties and fees from Steak n Shake and Western Sizzlin franchisees are based upon a percentage of sales of the
franchise restaurant and are recognized as earned. Franchise royalties are billed on a monthly basis. Initial franchise fees when a
new restaurant opens or at the start of a new franchise term are recorded as deferred revenue when received and recognized as
revenue over the term of the franchise agreement.

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 restaurant operations recognized $2,033, $1,879 and $1,725,
respectively, in revenue related to initial franchise fees. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, restaurant operations had deferred
revenue recorded in accrued expenses related to franchise fees of $5,199 and $6,928, respectively. Restaurant operations expect
to recognize approximately $972 of deferred revenue during 2022.

Our advertising arrangements with franchisees are reported in franchise royalties and fees. During the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 restaurant operations recognized $6,829, $5,193 and $7,813, respectively, in revenue
related to franchisee advertising fees. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, restaurant operations had deferred revenue recorded
in accrued expenses related to franchisee advertising fees of $4,151 and $4,391, respectively. Restaurant operations expect to
recognize approximately $3,113 of deferred revenue during 2022.

Other Revenue

Restaurant operations sells gift cards to customers which can be redeemed for retail food sales within our stores. Gift cards are
recorded as deferred revenue when issued and are subsequently recorded as net sales upon redemption. Restaurant operations
estimates breakage related to gift cards when the likelihood of redemption is remote. This estimate utilizes historical trends
based on the vintage of the gift card. Breakage on gift cards is recorded as other revenue in proportion to the rate of gift card
redemptions by vintage.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 restaurant operations recognized $5,903, $9,201 and $22,869
respectively, of revenue from gift card redemptions. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, restaurant operations had deferred
revenue recorded in accrued expenses related to unredeemed gift cards of $15,059 and $17,431, respectively. Restaurant
operations expect to recognize approximately $8,202 of deferred revenue during 2022.

Insurance Premiums and Commissions

Insurance premiums are earned over the terms of the related policies. Expenses incurred in connection with acquiring new
insurance business, including acquisition costs, are charged to operations as incurred. Premiums earned are stated net of
amounts ceded to reinsurer.

Oil and Gas

Revenues are derived from the sale of produced oil and natural gas. Revenue is recognized when the performance obligation is
satisfied, which typically occurs at the point in time when control of the product transfers to the customer. Payment is due
within 30 days of delivery.

Licensing Revenue and Other

Licensing revenue is recognized when earned. We derive value and revenues from intellectual property assets through a range
of licensing and business activities, including licensing and syndication of our trademarks and copyrights in the United States
and internationally. Magazine subscription and advertising revenues are recognized at the magazine cover date. The unearned
portion of magazine subscriptions is deferred until the magazine’s cover date, at which time a proportionate share of the gross
subscription price is recognized as revenue.

Restaurant Cost of Sales
Cost of sales includes the cost of food, restaurant operating costs, and restaurant occupancy costs. Cost of sales excludes
depreciation and amortization, which is presented as a separate line item on the consolidated statement of earnings.

Insurance Losses and Underwriting Expenses

Liabilities for estimated unpaid losses and loss adjustment expenses with respect to claims occurring on or before the balance
sheet date are established under insurance contracts issued by our insurance subsidiaries. Such estimates include provisions for
reported claims or case estimates, provisions for incurred but not reported claims, and legal and administrative costs to settle
claims. The estimates of unpaid losses and amounts recoverable under reinsurance are established and continually reviewed by
using a variety of actuarial, statistical, and analytical techniques. Reinsurance contracts do not relieve the ceding company of its
obligations to indemnify policyholders with respect to the underlying insurance contracts. Liabilities for insurance losses of
$14,609 and $14,652 are included in accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

Oil and Gas Production Costs
Oil and gas production costs are composed of lease operating expenses and production taxes.

Marketing Expense

Advertising costs are charged to expense at the later of the date the expenditure is incurred or the date the promotional item is
first communicated. Marketing expense is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement
of earnings.

Insurance Reserves

We self-insure a significant portion of expected losses under our workers’ compensation, general liability, auto, directors and
officers liability, and medical liability insurance programs, and record a reserve for our estimated losses on all unresolved open
claims and our estimated incurred but not reported claims at the anticipated cost to us. Insurance reserves are recorded in
accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheet.
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Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Savings Plans

Several of our subsidiaries also sponsor deferred compensation and defined contribution retirement plans, such as 401(k) or
profit sharing plans. Employee contributions to the plans are subject to regulatory limitations and the specific plan provisions.
Some of the plans allow for discretionary contributions as determined by management. Employer contributions expensed with
respect to these plans were not material.

Foreign Currency Translation

The Company has certain subsidiaries located in foreign jurisdictions. For subsidiaries whose functional currency is other than
the U.S. dollar, the translation of functional currency statements to U.S. dollar statements uses end-of-period exchange rates for
assets and liabilities, weighted average exchange rates for revenue and expenses, and historical rates for equity. The resulting
currency translation adjustment is recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income, as a component of equity.

Use of Estimates

Preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results
could differ from the estimates.

Note 2. Investments

Investments were $83,061 and $94,861 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively. We classify investments in fixed
maturity securities at the acquisition date as either available-for-sale or held-to-maturity and re-evaluate the classification at
each balance sheet date. Securities classified as held-to-maturity are carried at amortized cost, reflecting the ability and intent to
hold the securities to maturity. Realized gains and losses on disposals of investments are determined on a specific identification
basis. Dividends earned on investments are reported as investment income by our insurance companies. We consider
investment income as a component of our aggregate insurance operating result. However, we consider investment gains and
losses, whether realized or unrealized, as non-operating.

Investment gains in 2021 were $6,401, which include a $5,047 gain on the sale of real estate. The Company purchased 26 acres
of land in Murfreesboro, Tennessee, in 2014 for $2,145 and sold it in the third quarter of 2021. Investment gains in 2020 were

$3,644. There were no investment gains in 2019.

The carrying value of investments net of deferred taxes is presented below.

December 31,

2021 2020
Carrying value Of INVESLMENLS .......oiuiieieieieiieiiee ettt s e eee e see e nas $ 83,061 $ 94,861
Deferred tax liability related to INVESTMENLS .........eeveriieieriieiieieie et (845) (665)
Carrying value of investments net of deferred taxes. ........cooceverererericieeeeee e $ 82,216 § 94,196

Note 3. Investment Partnerships

The Company reports on the limited partnership interests in investment partnerships under the equity method of accounting.
We record our proportional share of equity in the investment partnerships but exclude Company common stock held by said
partnerships. The Company’s pro-rata share of its common stock held by the investment partnerships is recorded as treasury
stock even though these shares are legally outstanding. The Company records gains/losses from investment partnerships
(inclusive of the investment partnerships’ unrealized gains and losses on their securities) in the consolidated statements of
earnings based on our carrying value of these partnerships. The fair value is calculated net of the general partner’s accrued
incentive fees. Gains and losses on Company common stock included in the earnings of these partnerships are eliminated
because they are recorded as treasury stock.

Biglari Capital is the general partner of the investment partnerships and is an entity solely owned by Mr. Biglari.
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Note 3. Investment Partnerships (continued)

The fair value and adjustment for Company common stock held by the investment partnerships to determine the carrying value
of our partnership interest are presented below.

Company
Common Carrying
Fair Value Stock Value

Partnership interest at December 31, 2018.......c.ccooiviiviivieieieieieieeee e $ 715,102 $ 157,622 $ 557,480
Investment partnership gains (I0SSES)....ccuevcvierieeriieriieeriierieiieeree e 80,350 2,217 78,133
Distributions (net of contributions) ..........ccceeievieeiieciiesieeie e (129,329) (129,329)
Increase in proportionate share of Company stock held ..........c.ccoevevvieienn. 742 (742)
Partnership interest at December 31, 2019 ......c.ccooveirveiireieieicieiceeeeeee, $ 666,123 $ 160,581 § 505,542
Investment partnership gains (10SSES)......eevieruierieerierieeriieiieerieeree e eenee (46,997) (3,965) (43,032)
Distributions (net of contributions) ..........cceeveveeeiieiiienieeie e (28,200) (28,200)
Increase in proportionate share of Company stock held ..........ccccoeveevieienns 14,760 (14,760)
Partnership interest at December 31, 2020.........ccccceeirerievieieieieieier e $ 590,926 $ 171,376  $ 419,550
Investment partnership gains (10SSES).......cvevvirierieeierieiierie e 51,145 40,192 10,953
Distributions (net of contributions) ..........cceeveveeririeiienieeie e (167,870) (167,870)
Increase in proportionate share of Company stock held ..........cccccoeveireienns 12,234 (12,234)
Partnership interest at December 31, 2021 .......ccooivieriinieniieieieeeceeee e $ 474,201 $ 223,802 $ 250,399

The carrying value of the investment partnerships net of deferred taxes is presented below.

December 31,

2021 2020
Carrying value of investment partnerships ..........cceoveieieiriniiesee e $ 250,399 §$ 419,550
Deferred tax liability related to investment partnerships..........coceeveriecienierieneereseee e (44,532) (44,805)
Carrying value of investment partnerships net of deferred taxes...........ccoceeeeoeiieiiiicicnen $ 205,867 $ 374,745

The Company’s proportionate share of Company stock held by investment partnerships at cost was $401,851 and $389,617 at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and was recorded as treasury stock.

The carrying value of the partnership interest approximates fair value adjusted by the value of held Company stock. Fair value
of our partnership interest is assessed according to our proportional ownership interest of the fair value of investments held by

the investment partnerships. Unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities held by the investment partnerships affect our
net earnings.

Gains/losses from investment partnerships recorded in the Company’s consolidated statements of earnings are presented below.

2021 2020 2019
Gains (losses) from investment partnerShips. .........c.ccoeveeevevierereereeereeereeennns $ 10,953 $ (43,032) $ 78,133
Tax exXpense (DENETIt) ......couevirriiiieieiieee et 2,054 (10,526) 17,360
Contribution t0 NEt €arNINGS .........cveveviieriieriieeieieteeeeeeeeeeeee et $ 8,899 § (32,506) $ 60,773

On December 31 of each year, the general partner of the investment partnerships, Biglari Capital, will earn an incentive
reallocation fee for the Company’s investments equal to 25% of the net profits above an annual hurdle rate of 6% over the
previous high-water mark. Our policy is to accrue an estimated incentive fee throughout the year. The total incentive
reallocation from Biglari Holdings to Biglari Capital includes gains on the Company’s common stock. Gains and losses on the
Company’s common stock and the related incentive reallocations are eliminated in our financial statements.
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Note 3. Investment Partnerships (continued)

There were no incentive reallocations from Biglari Holdings to Biglari Capital during 2021. There were $987 of incentive
reallocations from Biglari Holdings to Biglari Capital during 2020, including $253 associated with gains on the Company’s
common stock. There were no incentive reallocations from Biglari Holdings to Biglari Capital during 2019.

Summarized financial information for The Lion Fund, L.P. and The Lion Fund II, L.P. is presented below.

Equity in Investment

Partnerships

Lion Fund Lion Fund IT
Total assets as of December 31, 2021 .......oooviiiiiieeeeee e $ 114,749 $ 564,022
Total liabilities as of December 31, 2021 .....ooiiiiiiiiiiiicieeeeeeeeeee et $ 7,763 $ 130,417
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021 .......ccoeiveiiiiiiiiiiiieieieieeieeeee e $ 20,068 $ 41,486
Earnings for the year ended December 31, 2021 ......ocveviiieiiieieiiieieeieeieeeeie e $ 19,994 $ 40,621
Biglari Holdings” ownership interest ...........c.coveoviiriiiiiniiiniiciecceceeeeeeeeee e 62.7 % 93.9 %
Total assets as of December 31, 2020 .......ccouiiiiiiiiiiieceee et $ 112,970 $ 566,663
Total liabilities as of December 31, 2020 ......ccooouuiiiiiiiiiiiee et $ 189 $ 25,453
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020 .......cccooviiieriiiieniiiieieeieieee et $ (4,052) $ (48,544)
Earnings for the year ended December 31, 2020 ...........cceeirieieriiirieieieiieieieeeeeeieeees e $ (4,1200 $ (49,832
Biglari Holdings” ownership interest ..........cc.eoveiriiiiirinininiiceneeceeeceee e e 66.2 % 95.4 %
Total assets as of December 31, 2019 .......uueiiiiiiiiieeeeeee e $ 117,135 $ 758,663
Total liabilities as of December 31, 2019 ......oooouiiiiiiei e $ 158 $ 114,639
Revenue for the year ended December 31, 2019 ......ccveiiiieiiiieiiiieeceeieeeee e $ 10,637 $ 85,831
Earnings for the year ended December 31, 2019 ......cccooiiiiiiiiiiiieeeeee e $ 10,567 $ 78,604
Biglari Holdings’ oWnership iNtereSt.........oouieiiriierierieieeieeie ettt 66.1 % 92.9 %

Revenue in the financial information of the investment partnerships, summarized above, includes investment income and
unrealized gains and losses on investments.

Note 4. Other Current Assets

Other current assets include the following.

December 31,

2021 2020
Deferred commissions on gift cards sold by third parties...........ccccoeveveviereininininncncneenn $ 3221 $ 3,491
Prepaid contractual ODIIGAtIONS .........ccviivieiieiieiieierie ettt ettt b et be s sseesseeseennas 3,867 3,001
OPNET CUITEIE ASSEES ..ottt e et et e e et e et e e e eee e e e e eaeeeee e $ 7,088 $ 6,492
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Note 5. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment is composed of the following.

December 31,

2021 2020

LN e a e h e bt bbbt bbbttt enee $ 144,605 § 142,601
BUILAINES ..ttt et ettt ettt s et e et e st e st e st e st en e eteene st eneeneeneene s s 148,605 138,734
Land and leasehold iIMProVEMENLS...........ccuevuieieriieiieeiieieetieie ettt et naeesee e eaesseeneesseensenaeas 147,349 141,351
EQUIPIMEIL ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et e ebe et e s teesbeeteesbeeseesbeesseeseesseeaeensesanenseennas 224,581 192,735
Oil and ZAS PLOPEITIES ...cuveeueeiieiieeiietteiierte et test et e bt eit et eee e st et e e st eeesmeenseeneesseeneenseensesseensenseennens 74,147 75,900
CONSIIUCTION TN PIOZIESS ..vvvevrerrienrereestesseestesseesesssesesssesseessesseassesseassesssessesssessesssessesssessesssensenns 2,815 1,032

742,102 692,353
Less accumulated depreciation, depletion, and amortization...............cceeeeeeeeeereereerieneeneeeeeenne. (392,751) (376,231)
Property and eqUIPIMENT, NET ........eccviriieiiiiieiieieie ettt ettt ste b eseebeessesseesaesseesaesseessesseas $ 349,351 § 316,122

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment for 2021, 2020 and 2019 was $22,012, $19,586 and
$18,881, respectively. Depletion expense related to oil and gas properties was $7,600, $11,989 and $8,077 during 2021, 2020
and 2019, respectively. Accretion expense of the Company’s asset retirement obligations was $438, $497 and $177 during
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Depletion and accretion expense are included in depreciation and amortization within the
consolidated statement of earnings.

The Company recorded impairments to restaurant long-lived assets of $4,635, $19,618 and $8,186 during 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. The fair value of the long-lived assets was determined based on Level 3 inputs using a discounted cash flow model

and quoted prices for the properties.

The property and equipment cost related to finance obligations as of December 31, 2021 is as follows: $44,849 of buildings,
$45,548 of land, $26,345 of land and leasehold improvements, and $53,965 of accumulated depreciation.

Note 6. Asset Retirement Obligations

A reconciliation of the ending aggregate carrying amount of asset retirement obligations is as follows.

December 31

2021 2020
Be@INNing DALANCE ...........cuoiiviieiiieiiiieeiet ettt ettt ettt es et eae e $ 10,258 $ 10,631
Liabilities SEEIEM. . ...iiviiiiiieiiiticeiceie ettt ettt ettt et beere s (72) (870)
ACCTEHION EXPEIISE.c.nvvreteureuteuteuteueeteetestestesteste st essestestesteuteuteteebeabesbeete et e st et eab et et eseesteneeneeteerenee 438 497
Asset Tetirement ODIIZATION ........c..oiiiiiiirieiieti ittt ettt ettt ettt b b st se s essere e $ 10,624 $ 10,258

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, $235 and $236, respectively, is classified as current and is included in accounts payable
and accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets.
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Note 7. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill

Goodwill consists of the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the net assets acquired in connection with business
acquisitions. No goodwill was recorded with the acquisition of Southern Oil.

A reconciliation of the change in the carrying value of goodwill is as follows.

Restaurants Insurance Total
Goodwill at December 31, 2018 ......vouieeeeeeeeee ettt $ 28,139 §$ 11,913 $ 40,052
Change in foreign exchange rates during 2019 ..........ccoccevvvevieeienenieniieiees (12) — (12)
Goodwill at December 31, 2019......oouiieeeeeeee ettt $ 28,127  $ 11,913 $ 40,040
GoOdWill from aCQUISTEION. .. .cveeuieiieieeeieti et eeete et ae e sreeseeneens — 13,800 13,800
Impairments to g0OAWill .......c.coooiiiiiiiiiii e (300) — (300)
Change in foreign exchange rates during 2020 ...........cccceevvevverienenieneeiennenns 56 — 56
Goodwill at December 31, 2020.......c.eoeeeieeee et $ 27,883 $ 25,713 $ 53,596
Change in foreign exchange rates during 2021 .........ccccceevvininiinienicnencnennens (49) — (49)

Goodwill at December 31, 2021 .......ooiioiiiiiieieieeeeeee e $ 27,834 $ 25,713 $ 53,547

We evaluate goodwill and any indefinite-lived intangible assets for impairment annually, or more frequently if circumstances
indicate impairment may have occurred. Goodwill impairment occurs when the estimated fair value of goodwill is less than its
carrying value. GAAP allows entities testing for impairment the option of performing a qualitative assessment before
calculating the fair value of a reporting unit for the goodwill impairment test. We used both qualitative and quantitative
assessments in 2021. The valuation methodology and underlying financial information included in our quantitative
determination of fair value require significant management judgments. We use both market and income approaches to derive
fair value of reporting units utilizing a quantitative assessment. The judgments in these two approaches include, but are not
limited to, comparable market multiples, long-term projections of future financial performance, and the selection of appropriate
discount rates used to determine the present value of future cash flows. Changes in such estimates or the application of
alternative assumptions could produce significantly different results. No impairment was recorded for our reporting units in
2021. The fair value of certain of Steak n Shake’s reporting units declined in 2020, and an impairment to goodwill of $300 was
recorded. No impairment was recorded in 2019. Western Sizzlin has experienced a decline in its franchised units for several
years. If Western Sizzlin’s franchised units continue to decline, an impairment of its goodwill may be necessary.

Other Intangible Assets
Intangible assets with indefinite lives are composed of the following.

Trade Names  Lease Rights Total
Balance at December 31, 2019 .....ooviiiiiiiieceeee et $ 15,876 $ 11,323  $ 27,199
TMPAITINEILS ...ttt ettt ettt be s saeesseeseesaesreesneenas (3,728) (3,728)
Change in foreign exchange rates during 2020 ...........cccooveverieienieneneee. — 594 594
Balance at December 31, 2020 .......c.ooeieuiieiiieeeeee e 15,876 8,189 24,065
Change in foreign exchange rates during 2021 ..........ccccooiiiiiiinineneneee (602) (602)
Balance at December 31, 2021 .....oooviiiiieiieeiieeeee e $ 15,876 $ 7,587 § 23,463

Intangible assets with indefinite lives consist of trade names, franchise rights as well as lease rights. No impairment was
recorded in 2021. During 2020, the Company recorded impairment charges of $3,728 on lease rights related to our international
restaurant operations because of the adverse effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. The impairment and fair value were
determined using Level 3 inputs and available market data. No amortization expense was recorded in 2021. Amortization

expense in 2020 and 2019 was $150 and $549, respectively. The Company’s intangible assets with definite lives fully
amortized in 2020.
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Note 8.

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses include the following.

ACCOUNES PAYADIE ...t ettt sttt sttt st ene

December 31,

Gift card and other MArKeting ..........c.cccveieiiieieriieieieeeec ettt ees

INSUTANCE ACCTUALS ......vviieieie et e e e et e e et e e et e e eeaaeeeeaneeans

Salaries, Wages, and VACATION ........eccueevieiietieieetteteeiiesieeeestesaesteeaesteesaesteessenseessesseensesseensesseennes

DETEITEA TEVEIUE ...ttt e e et e e et e e e e e aae e e e e e eaaaeeeeeesaaaeeeeeans

TAXES PAYADIE ...ttt ettt

PrOfESSIONAL TEES ... et eeean

Note 9. Other Liabilities

Other liabilities include the following.

Note 10. Income Taxes

The components of the provision for income taxes consist of the following.

Current:

Federal.....ccooooiviiiiiiiiiiiieeeieeeee,

Reconciliation of effective income tax:

Tax at U.S. statutory rates...........ccceeueenee.

State income taxes, net of federal benefit

Federal income tax creditS ........ccceeeeennne.

58

2021 2020
$ 36,684 $ 26,537
19,244 21,822
6,428 6,559
5,905 8,285
6,683 9,324
11,392 10,922
11,731 5,882
2,400 1,561
$ 100,467 $ 90,892

December 31,

2021 2020
$ 1,607 $ 1,368
462 312
$ 2,069 $ 1,680

2021 2020 2019
1,053 % (472) 41,005
467 476 7,301
5,269 (12,216) (38,545)
6,789 § (12,212) 9,761
8,875 § (10,542) 11,579
192 (1,750) 1,573
(864) (424) (3,004)
(468) (233) (955)
(723) 733 441
(78) 240 116
(145) (236) 11
6,789 § (12,212) 9,761




Note 10. Income Taxes (continued)

The Company did not have a net tax expense or benefit on income from international operations. Earnings (losses) before
income taxes derived from domestic operations during 2021, 2020 and 2019 were $43,886, $(40,989) and $57,877,
respectively. Losses before income taxes derived from international operations during 2021, 2020 and 2019 were $1,619,
$9,212, and $2,736, respectively.

As of December 31, 2021, we had $83 of unrecognized tax benefits, including $4 of interest and penalties, which are included
in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet. As of December 31, 2020, we had $204 of unrecognized tax
benefits, including $59 of interest and penalties, which are included in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance
sheet. Our continuing practice is to recognize interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters in income tax
expense. The unrecognized tax benefits of $83 would impact the effective income tax rate if recognized. Adjustments to the
Company’s unrecognized tax benefit for gross increases for the current period tax position, gross decreases for prior period tax
positions and the lapse of statute of limitations during 2021, 2020 and 2019 were not significant.

We file income tax returns which are periodically audited by various foreign, federal, state, and local jurisdictions. With few
exceptions, we are no longer subject to federal, state, and local tax examinations for fiscal years prior to 2018. We believe we
have certain state income tax exposures related to fiscal years 2017 through 2021. Because of the expiration of the various state
statutes of limitations for these fiscal years, it is possible that the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits will decrease by
approximately $15 within 12 months.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between financial reporting and tax basis of assets and
liabilities and are measured using the currently enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are
expected to reverse.

Our deferred tax assets and liabilities consist of the following.

December 31,

2021 2020
Deferred tax assets:
TNSUTANCE TESEIVES ...ttt e et e e et e e e e et e e e e e e eateeeeeeseataeeeessensaaeeessannes $ 1,464 $ 1,621
ComPENSAtION ACCIUALS .......iiuietiiietieieste ettt ettt et sae e beesaesse e s e sseenseeseenseeneenes 647 1,439
Gt CATA ACCTUAIS......vviieeeie et e et eae e e et e e e aeeeenes 2,350 2,387
Net operating loss credit carryforward .............oooieieriiieii e 11,018 7,121
Valuation allowance on net 0perating loSSES........ccuveverieieriieiienieieeeieieeeereeee e eee e eae e (5,429) (6,152)
Fixed assets and depletable assets basis difference..........ccoovvvvevvieiiviieciieicriciecceeeeeeee 588 8,234
Income tax credit carryforward ..........ccceoiiiiiiiiiiini e 813 2,178
ORCT -ttt ettt b bbbttt 2,954 2,516
Total dEfEITEd tAX @SSELS ..oiiiieeiiiiee ittt et e e et e e e et e e e e e e e e e eeeaaaeeeeens 14,405 19,344
Deferred tax liabilities:
INVestmMent PArtneTSIIPS ... ...eeuiiiieieiteieee ettt ettt ettt st eee st et s e st eneens 44,532 44,805
TNVESTIMEIIES ...ttt ettt ettt ettt saeen 845 665
GoodWill and INEANGIDIES ......c.ieiiiiiieiee et 15,561 15,220
Total deferred tax HabIlItIES. ... .cc.viiiiiiiieii ettt b e e s e e saaeeaae e 60,938 60,690
Net deferred tax THability .........cocieviiiuiieiiiciieeeietceeee ettt $ (46,533) § (41,346)

Receivables on the balance sheet include income taxes receivable of $344 as of December 31, 2021 and accrued expenses on
the balance sheet include income taxes payable $2,436 as of December 31, 2020. Income taxes paid during 2021, 2020 and
2019 were $4,532, $15,402 and $30,375, respectively. Income tax refunds during 2021, 2020 and 2019 were $111, $68 and
$1,546, respectively.
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Note 11. Notes Payable and Lease Obligations

Steak n Shake Credit Facility

On March 19, 2014, Steak n Shake and its subsidiaries entered into a credit agreement which provided for a senior secured term
loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $220,000. The term loan was scheduled to mature on March 19, 2021. As of
December 31, 2020, $152,506 was outstanding. The Company repaid Steak n Shake’s outstanding balance in full on February
19, 2021.

Western Sizzlin Revolver
As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, Western Sizzlin had no debt outstanding under its revolver.

Lease Obligations
Lease obligations include the following.

December 31,

2021 2020
Current portion of lease obligations
FINAnCe 1€aS€ HADIIITIES. .......eooviieiieeieieeeeeee ettt ettt eas e sae e enean $ 1,414 $ 1,897
FINAnCe ODIIZATIONS. .......c.viiiieeiiiieiiicteeieeteete ettt ettt ettt saesteesseeteesseeseesseeseesseesaesseesaeas 4,944 4,854
Operating [€ase HaDIlItIES .......cc.eiieiiiiieie et 10,540 10,614
Total current portion of lease ObliAtiONS..........cceevvirieriiiieriieierieieee e $ 16,898 $ 17,365
Long-term lease obligations
FINANCe 1€8S€ HADIIIEIES.......veviieieee ettt et sae e $ 5,347 $ 7,034
FINance ODIIZAtIONS. ...c..eouiiiiiiiiiieiet ettt ettt e e et st e et eeeane e 63,119 68,148
Operating [€ase HADIIILICS .......ccveiieriiiieiiciee ettt eae e 36,013 36,463
Total long-term 16ase ODIIAtIONS .......cc.eovieiiiieieiieie ettt ettt e e s e eseeenens $ 104,479 § 111,645
Interest
Interest paid on debt and obligations under leases are as follows.
2021 2020 2019
Interest paid 0N debt ........ocveuiiveeiiiieiiiiiciee et $ 994 § 9,397 $ 11,273
Interest paid on obligations under 1€aSes..........covrveirreieerirreiereieeree e, $ 6,039 $ 6,274 $ 7,816

Note 12. Leased Assets and Lease Commitments

Nature of Leases
Steak n Shake and Western Sizzlin operate restaurants that are located on sites owned by us and leased from third parties. In
addition, they own sites and lease sites from third parties that are leased and/or subleased to franchisees.

Lease Costs
Total lease costs consist of the following.

2021 2020 2019
Finance lease costs:
Amortization of right-0f-use assets .........ccooeverieriiiieiieeeeee e $ 1,576 $ 1,404 §$ 1,952
Interest on lease HabIlities .......ccuveevierieeiiiciieeie et 521 582 828
Operating [8aSe COSES ®......iiiiiieieiieieeiiee et 1,119 9,995 16,483
TOLAL LEASE COSES ..vviuiinriieieetieie et ete ettt ettt et et et eae et eeaeeaeeeaeereeseeaseereens $ 3216 § 11,981 $ 19,263

*Includes short-term leases, variable lease costs and sublease income.
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Note 12. Leased Assets and Lease Commitments (continued)

Supplemental cash flow information related to leases is as follows.

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Financing cash flows from finance 1€ases ...........coecuevuieieiiirieii e
Operating cash flows from finance 16aSes .........c.cccvevvirieriiiieriiiieieciee e

Operating cash flows from operating leases..........ccovvereriereiiereiieeeee e

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for lease obligations:

Operating 182 HADIIILICS .......oouieieiieieii ettt

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases is as follows.

December 31,

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2021 2020
$ 1,629 §$ 1,512
$ 506 $ 632
$ 13,195 $ 13,627
$ — 8§ 73

December 31,

2021 2020

Finance leases:

Property and eqUIPIMENT, NEL.........cveieieieiietieieeieeteeie ettt et et e e seeseeseeseeseeseesessesseesessessessensenes $ 5,634 § 6,501
Current portion of notes payable and other bOrroOWings ..........ccccveveeienieienieieeeeeeeee e, $ 1,414 § 1,897
Long-term notes payable and other bOIrOWINgs ...........ccoccvevieeierieeienieeieneeeeeeeene 5,347 7,034

Total fINance 16aS€ LHADIIITIES ......ccuvveiieiieeeeiee e e e e e e enaaeeeeas $ 6,761 $ 8,931

Weighted-average lease terms and discount rates are as follows.

2021

Weighted-average remaining lease terms:

FANANCE LRASES. ..ottt ettt ettt e ettt et e e e b e st e e st ena e e st e n et ene e bt emeeeseeneeeseenteeneenteeneenneeneens 5.06 years
OPCIALING LEASES ....vveuvieeieiieiiesteete et ete et e e eteebe et eseette st eseesseeseeeseeseesseessesseesseeseessaessenseessenseessenseessenseessesseensenns 5.14 years

Weighted-average discount rates:

FINANCE LRASES. ..ottt ettt ettt ettt e e bt ea e et e e m e e bt en et es e e bt emeeebeemteebeenteateentenbeenneeneens 7.0%
OPCIALING LEASECS ....vvevvieuieiieeieeteete et ete et ete et ete e st et e esteseeseesseaseesseessesseensesseenseeseessasssenseessenseessanseensenseensesseensenns 6.9%

Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2021 are as follows.

Operating Finance

Year Leases Leases

2022 ettt a e h e bbbttt h bbbt et ea bt st ettt bt ereabes $ 13,282 $ 1,834

2023 ettt h ettt ettt ea e et sttt e Rt eae ekt be et e e e b et et eneeneene e 11,230 1,551

2024 ..ottt b e h bbbt s b e st st sttt ae ettt e ebeeseeseebenbensenbentans 9,402 1,534

2025 ettt a bt h e bttt be ettt st et enneneens 7,817 1,298

2026 ..ttt ettt a bttt ea e a e n e st e Rt he ekttt ebe et e s et et enseneene e 5,166 959

ATEET 2026ttt 8,631 855

Total 1€aSE PAYIMENLS ....cvieviirieeietieieeteete ettt ettt b et s et sbeersesneeseesreenneenis 55,528 8,031

| BT 1) (x| SRS 8,975 1,270

Total 1€aSE THADIIIES ...ttt e $ 46,553 % 6,761
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Note 12. Leased Assets and Lease Commitments (continued)

Rent expense is presented below.

2021 2020 2019
IMIDIIMUIT TENE. .ttt ettt et et eae st eaeseeeaeenaeeneas $ 14,926 $ 15,672 $ 17,968
CONINZENE TENT ....ovviiviiiieeiicteeeieete ettt te et sreebe e e sseseeebesssesbeessesseessenns 137 137 1,050
RENE EXPEIISE. ...cuveutevieiietieiieiietteit ettt ettt ettt e et e st et e st eseeneeseeseeseeseesesseesensas $ 15,063 $ 15,809 $ 19,018
Lease Income
The components of lease income are as follows.
2021 2020 2019
Operating [ase IMNCOME. ..........ceruerruiieiirieienieeneteneee ettt ere e $ 13,173 $ 5027 $ 1,376
Variable lease iNCOME............cccooviiiiiiiiiiiiicc 3,479 1,738 347
Total 16aS€ INCOME ......c.ouviuiiiiiiiiiiiiiicc s $ 16,652 $ 6,765 $ 1,723

The following table displays the Company’s future minimum rental receipts for non-cancelable leases and subleases as of
December 31, 2021. Franchise partner leases and subleases are short-term leases and have been excluded from the table.

Operating Leases

Owned

Year Subleases Properties

2022 ettt h e h e h e a e bttt h et h et h et e b et ehe et bt et enee S 609 $ 247
2023 ettt et a e a ettt s bt e h et ettt ettt et eaee 421 247
2024 <. e ettt ettt e h bttt ettt ea s 338 247
2025 ettt et et h et s h et h et ettt ehe et bt et eaee 338 250
2026 ettt bt e b e h e b e h bt bt e sht e e bt e bt e e bt e bt e et enateeatee 19 247
ATEET 2020 ...t h et e ettt b ettt beenee e _ 805
Total future MINIMUM TECEIPLS ....veveverretiieieieieitet ettt sttt ettt eae e $ 1,725 $ 2,043

Note 13. Related Party Transactions

Services Agreement
During 2017, the Company entered into a services agreement with Biglari Enterprises LLC and Biglari Capital Corp.
(collectively, the “Biglari Entities””) under which the Biglari Entities provide business and administrative related services to the
Company. The Biglari Entities are owned by Mr. Biglari. The services agreement has a five-year term, effective on October 1,
2017. The fixed fee is $700 per month for the first year with adjustments in years two through five. The monthly fee remained
at $700 during 2021.

The Company paid Biglari Enterprises $8,400 in service fees during 2021 and 2020. The services agreement does not alter the
Company’s hurdle rate connected with the incentive reallocation paid to Biglari Capital Corp.

Investments in The Lion Fund, L.P. and The Lion Fund II, L.P.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company’s investments in The Lion Fund, L.P. and The Lion Fund II, L.P. had a fair value of
$474,201.
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Note 13. Related Party Transactions (continued)

Contributions to and distributions from The Lion Fund, L.P. and The Lion Fund II, L.P. were as follows.

2021 2020 2019
Contributions OF CASH.......c.oiviiiiiiicieee ettt $ 12,300 $ 70,130 $ 40,000
DISHEDUHONS OF CASN.-----ooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeee (180,170) (98,330) (169,329)

$  (167,870) $  (28,200) $  (129,329)

As the general partner of the investment partnerships, Biglari Capital on December 31 of each year will earn an incentive
reallocation fee for the Company’s investments equal to 25% of the net profits above a hurdle rate of 6% over the previous
high-water mark. There were no incentive reallocations in 2021. There were $987 of incentive reallocations from Biglari
Holdings to Biglari Capital during 2020, including $253 associated with gains on the Company’s common stock. Gains on the
Company’s common stock and the related incentive reallocations are eliminated in our financial statements. There were no
incentive reallocations from Biglari Holdings to Biglari Capital during 2019.

Incentive Agreement

The Incentive Agreement establishes a performance-based annual incentive payment for Mr. Biglari contingent upon the
growth in adjusted equity in each year attributable to our operating businesses. In order for Mr. Biglari to receive any incentive,
our operating businesses must achieve an annual increase in shareholders’ equity in excess of 6% (the “Hurdle Rate”) above the
previous highest level (the “High Water Mark™). Mr. Biglari will receive 25% of any incremental book value created above the
High Water Mark plus the Hurdle Rate. In any year in which book value declines, our operating businesses must completely
recover their deficit from the previous High Water Mark, along with attaining the Hurdle Rate, before Mr. Biglari becomes
eligible to receive any further incentive payment. No incentive fees were earned during 2021, 2020 and 2019.

Note 14. Commitments and Contingencies

We are involved in various legal proceedings and have certain unresolved claims pending. We believe, based on examination of
these matters and experiences to date, that the ultimate liability, if any, in excess of amounts already provided in our
consolidated financial statements is not likely to have a material effect on our results of operations, financial position or cash
flow.

Note 15. Fair Value of Financial Assets

The fair values of substantially all of our financial instruments were measured using market or income approaches.
Considerable judgment may be required in interpreting market data used to develop the estimates of fair value. Accordingly, the
fair values presented are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized in an actual current market exchange.
The use of alternative market assumptions and/or estimation methodologies may have a material effect on the estimated fair
value.

The hierarchy for measuring fair value consists of Levels 1 through 3, which are described below.
* Level 1 — Inputs represent unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities exchanged in active markets.

* Level 2 — Inputs include directly or indirectly observable inputs (other than Level 1 inputs) such as quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities exchanged in active or inactive markets; quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities
exchanged in inactive markets; other inputs that may be considered in fair value determinations of the assets or
liabilities, such as interest rates and yield curves, volatilities, prepayment speeds, loss severities, credit risks and
default rates; and inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by correlation or
other means. Pricing evaluations generally reflect discounted expected future cash flows, which incorporate yield
curves for instruments with similar characteristics, such as credit ratings, estimated durations and yields for other
instruments of the issuer or entities in the same industry sector.
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Note 15. Fair Value of Financial Assets (continued)

*  Level 3 — Inputs include unobservable inputs used in the measurement of assets and liabilities. Management is required
to use its own assumptions regarding unobservable inputs because there is little, if any, market activity in the assets or
liabilities and we may be unable to corroborate the related observable inputs. Unobservable inputs require management
to make certain projections and assumptions about the information that would be used by market participants in pricing
assets or liabilities.

The following methods and assumptions were used to determine the fair value of each class of the following assets recorded at
fair value in the consolidated balance sheets:

Cash equivalents: Cash equivalents primarily consist of money market funds which are classified within Level 1 of the fair
value hierarchy.

Equity securities: The Company’s investments in equity securities are classified within Levels 1 and 2 of the fair value
hierarchy.

Bonds: The Company’s investments in bonds consist of both corporate and government debt. Bonds are classified as Level 1 or
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Non-qualified deferred compensation plan investments: The assets of the non-qualified plan are set up in a rabbi trust. They
represent mutual funds and publicly traded securities, each of which are classified within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy.

Derivative instruments: Options related to equity securities are marked to market each reporting period and are classified within
Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy depending on the instrument.

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 the fair values of financial assets were as follows.

December 31,
2021 2020
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets
Cash equivalents................... $ 18,447 $ — 3 $ 18,447 § 23,885 §$ — 3 — $ 23,885
Equity securities:
Consumer goods................. 10,775 2,368 — 13,143 7,274 5,652 — 12,926
Insurance .........cceevveveeinnnn. 6,513 — 6,513 261 — — 261
Technology.....c..cccceveuennnnee 2,887 — — 2,887 — — — —
Bonds:
Government..............ocu..... 54,584 — — 54,584 39,472 14,043 — 53,515
Corporate........cceevveveenennne. 4,512 — — 4,512 — 5,406 — 5,406
Options on equity securities.. — 2,095 2,095 — 2,911 — 2911
Non-qualified deferred
compensation plan
nvestments..........ccc.oceevveenn. 1,607 — — 1,607 1,368 — — 1,368
Total assets at fair value ....... $ 99325 § 4463 $ $103,788 $ 72,260 $ 28,012 § — $100,272

There were no changes in our valuation techniques used to measure fair values on a recurring basis.
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Note 16. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

Changes in the balances of each component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, were as follows.

2021 2020 2019
Beginning BalancCe.............c.oeuiiieieiieiieieieieeeeeetee e $ (1,531) $ (2,810) $ (2,516)
Foreign currency translation ............oecueeierierieniiiene e (376) 1,279 (294)
Ending BalanCe ........cc.cvvveuiiiiiiiiiieieicieeeteeeete ettt $ (1,907) $ (1,531) $ (2,810)

There were no reclassifications from accumulated other comprehensive income to earnings during 2021, 2020 or 2019.
Note 17. Business Segment Reporting

Our reportable business segments are organized in a manner that reflects how management views those business activities. Our
restaurant operations include Steak n Shake and Western Sizzlin. Our insurance operations include First Guard and Southern
Pioneer. The Company also reports segment information for Maxim and Southern Oil. Other business activities not specifically
identified with reportable business segments are presented in corporate. We report our earnings from investment partnerships
separate from our corporate expenses. We assess and measure segment operating results based on segment earnings as disclosed
below. Segment earnings from operations are neither necessarily indicative of cash available to fund cash requirements, nor
synonymous with cash flow from operations. The tabular information that follows shows data of our reportable segments
reconciled to amounts reflected in the consolidated financial statements.

A disaggregation of our consolidated data for each of the three most recent years is presented in the tables which follow.

Revenue
2021 2020 2019
Operating Businesses:
Restaurant Operations:
Steak N SHAKE ......eoviiiieieeiieieeeeeee e $ 263,135 § 344305 $ 595,004
WESEEITL ..ttt e et e e et e e e e e eaaae e e e e s enaaeeeessennes 8,155 6,361 15,216
Total Restaurant OPerations ............cveeueeeerierienueeienieeeeseeeeeseeeeesseeneeseeeneesnees 271,290 350,666 610,220
Insurance Operations:
Underwriting:
FIrst GUATA ....ooviieiiiiciccceeee ettt 33,521 30,210 28,746
SOUthErn PIONEET .......ccuveiieeeieieieeeee e 21,890 19,010 —
Investment income and OtheT ............oooviiiiiiiiiiiieee e 3,198 3,459 1,337
Total InSurance OPErations ..........ceouerueeiertierieniieieneeee st eeestee e ie e seens 58,609 52,679 30,083
SOULhEIN O1l ...oviiiiiiieiiceee e ens 33,004 26,255 24,436
IMIAXIITL .ottt a et e et et e eaeebeeaeesaeeasesteensesaeesbesaeensenaeens 3,203 4,083 4,099

$ 366,106 $ 433,683 § 668,838
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Note 17. Business Segment Reporting (continued)

Operating Businesses:

Restaurant Operations:

Steak n Shake........ccooeevvviiiviiieieeeecee

Insurance Operations:
Underwriting:

First Guard.........cooooveviiieiiiiieeeeees
Southern Pioneer .........ccooevvvvevvvinnennenn.
Investment income and Other ............cc.oeovveiiiiiiieeieeeeeee e 2,118

Total Insurance Operations..........cc.ccoceeuenee.

Interest expense not allocated to segments
Operating BuSinesses .........c.cceevveeverueeeenneennn.

Corporate and other ............ccoevvvveriivienieennnns
Investment gains ........ccceeeeveereeneneenieneenens
Investment partnership gains (losses)

Operating Businesses:

Restaurant .............cooovevvviiiieeeeeeeee

Operating BuSinesses .........c.cceeveeeereeeennnennn.
Corporate and other ............ccoeevveriiienennn.
Consolidated results .........ccoceveierieiiiincencnnns

Earnings (Loss) Before Income Taxes

........................................................... 10,953

2021 2020 2019

................................................ $ 13,524  §$ (4,587) $ (18,575)
................................................ 931 (765) 1,756
................................................ 14,455 (5,352) (16,819)
................................................ 10,573 9,379 6,477
................................................ 1,744 620 —
2,432 626

................................................ 14,435 12,431 7,103
................................................ 9,713 2,018 8,032
................................................ 814 1,784 742
................................................... (1,121) (9,262) (12,442)
................................................ 38,296 1,619 (13,384)
................................................ (13,383) (12,432) (9,608)
................................................ 6,401 3,644 —
(43,032) 78,133

$ 42,267 $ (50,201) $ 55,141

Capital Expenditures
2021 2020 2019

................................................ $ 60,296 $ 17,858 $ 10,023
................................................ 1,451 5 43
................................................ 996 2,806 7,594
................................................ 62,743 20,669 17,660
................................................ 1,806 33 19
................................................ $ 64,549 8§ 20,702 § 17,679
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Note 17. Business Segment Reporting (continued)

Depreciation, Depletion, and Amortization

2021 2020 2019
Operating Businesses:
RESTAUTANT ...t ettt ee e $ 21,484 $ 19,042 $ 21,174
INSUTANCE ..ottt ettt sttt et et esaae e 176 414 85
SOUhern Oil.......ooiiiiiiiiiiceceeecee et 8,073 12,527 8,218
IMAXIIN ..ttt ettt ettt et e e e tt e e beeeaaeeabeesaseenseeetseebaessseenbeeenseereeas — — —
Operating BUSINESSES .....c.eevievieiieiieiieieieeeesie et steeteste s steessesseesseeseesseeseenns 29,733 31,983 29,477
Corporate and Other ..........coceeiiiieiiieeeee e 317 239 101
ConSOIAAtEd TESULLS .....voveieviceieie ettt $ 30,050 $ 32,222 $ 29,578
A disaggregation of our consolidated assets is presented in the table that follows.
Identifiable Assets
December 31,
2021 2020
Reportable segments:
Restaurant Operations:
STEAK 11 SHAKE ...ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt eaean $ 377,676 $ 341,190
R ST <) o s SRR 17,239 16,512
Total ResStaurant OPEIratiOns........c.eeueeuerueerieruieieetteieeteeteeteeteeseenteeseeteeseenteeneesaeeneesseeneesseeneenneas 394915 357,702
Insurance Operations:
FATST GUATA ...ttt et et e stb e et e e taeebeesabeenbeesebeesseessseesaessseenses 74,615 64,764
SOUTNEIN PIOMEET.......eeiiieeiieciieeeeeee et e e et e e et e e eaaeeeeneeeas 72,321 74,063
Total INSUTANCe OPEIATIONS .....uveveeureriienieetiete ettt eee et ete st et et ettt et esee bt es e steeneeeseeeesneeeeaneas 146,936 138,827
SOULNEIN O]ttt ettt e et e eebe e b e beesseeseesseeseenseeseesseens 53,359 61,017
IMLAXIITL ..ttt ettt et ettt et et et e ab e eteeaseeaeeseeseeaeesb e teesbeeteenbeeaseabeenteteeateeaeenteereenreaaeas 16,605 16,485
COTPOTALE. ..ttt ettt ettt ettt et ettt ettt et e ate s et e s et e eab e e bt e eabeeesbesabeenseeeabeesabeenbeessneenseenaneens 32,593 24,387
INVEStMENT PATTNETSIIPS ..veevvieiiieiieiie ettt ettt e ettt e et esibeeseesebeeseesnseeseeenseenneens 250,399 419,550
TOTAL ASSEES.....ceevveeieeeeeeeeeee ettt ettt ettt ettt et e e e ee et et et ee et et e s eee s et eseeses et et esean s eseseenenana $ 894,807 $ 1,017,968

Note 18. Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information

Capital expenditures in accounts payable at December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were $8,733, $2,399 and $339, respectively. In
2021, we had new finance lease obligations of $733 and lease retirements of $1,216. In 2020, we had new finance lease
obligations of $3,285 and lease retirements of $4,842. During 2019, we had new finance lease obligations of $5,026 and lease
retirements of $940.

Note 19. Supplemental Oil and Gas Disclosures (Unaudited)
The Company has determined it has significant oil and gas producing activities during the year ended December 31, 2021 in

accordance with ASC 932 “Extractive Activities — Oil and Gas”. The Company did not have significant oil and gas producing
activities within the meaning of ASC 932 during the years ended December 31, 2020 and 2019.
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Note 19. Supplemental Oil and Gas Disclosures (Unaudited) (continued)

Estimated Quantities of Proved Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

The Company classifies recoverable hydrocarbons based on their status at the time of reporting. Within the commercial
classification are proved reserves and two categories of unproved reserves: probable and possible. The potentially recoverable
categories are also referred to as contingent resources. For reserve estimates to be classified as proved, they must meet all SEC
and Company standards.

Proved oil and gas reserves are the estimated quantities that geoscience and engineering data demonstrate with reasonable
certainty to be economically producible from known reservoirs under existing economic conditions, operating methods, and
government regulations. Net proved reserves exclude royalties and interests owned by others and reflect contractual
arrangements and royalty obligations in effect at the time of the estimate. Proved reserves are classified as either developed or
undeveloped. Proved developed reserves are the quantities expected to be recovered through existing wells with existing
equipment and operating methods. Proved undeveloped reserves are the quantities expected to be recovered from new wells on
undrilled acreage or from existing wells where a relatively major expenditure is required from recompletion. Due to the inherent
uncertainties and the limited nature of reservoir data, estimates of reserves are subject to change as additional information
becomes available.

We engaged Netherland, Sewell & Associates, Inc. (“NSAI”) to prepare our reserve estimates for all of our estimated proved
reserves at December 31, 2021. All proved oil and natural gas reserves are located in the United States primarily offshore in the

shallow waters of the Gulf of Mexico.

The following table sets forth our estimate of the net proved oil and gas reserves for the year ended December 31, 2021.

Oil (MBbI) Gas (MMcf) MBOE
Total proved reserves at December 31, 2020 2,223 24917 6,376
Revisions (1) 433 4,235 1,139
Extensions.................. 62 189 94
Production.........ccceeeeeieieieeeeeee e (357) (2,798) (824)
Total proved reserves at December 31, 2021 2,361 26,544 6,785
Total proved developed reserves as of December 31, 2021 .....c.cceevevvvenvennenns 1,897 18,427 4,968
Total proved undeveloped reserves as of December 31, 2021 464 8,117 1,817

(1) Revisions are primarily related to increasing commodity prices.

Bbl — One stock tank barrel, of 42 United States gallons liquid volume.
MBbI — Thousand barrels.

MMcf— Million cubic feet of natural gas.

MBOE — Thousand barrels of oil equivalent.

Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows Relating to Proved Oil and Natural Gas Reserves

The standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows presented in the following table was computed using the 12-
month unweighted average of the first-day-of-the-month commodity prices, the costs in effect at December 31, 2021, and a 10
percent discount factor. The Company cautions that actual future net cash flows may vary considerably from these estimates.
Although the Company’s estimates of total proved reserves, development costs and production rates were based on the best
available information, the development and production of the crude oil and natural gas reserves may not occur in the periods
assumed. Actual prices realized, costs incurred and production quantities may vary significantly from those used. Therefore, the
estimated future net cash flow computations should not be considered to represent the Company’s estimate of the expected
revenues or the current value of proved reserves.
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Note 19. Supplemental Oil and Gas Disclosures (Unaudited) (continued)

The following table sets forth the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows attributable to proved crude oil and
natural gas reserves as of December 31, 2021.

December 31,

(in thousands) 2021
FULUTE CASN ANTTOWS ...ttt e et e et et e et et e et eease et e eeaeeeaaeeneeseeeeeanesanas $ 247,294
FULUIE PIOQUCTION COSES ... eeutiiuiitieiiietietietieie ettt ettt e st et e st e et e e et et e e s e e st enee e st enseeseenseemeesseeneesseeneesseensenseensenseans (78,207)
Future development and abandonment COSTS .........cuivuiiiiriiiiitieieitieieite ettt ete e eseeteeae e sseereesaeeesesbeessesseesseseens (32,673)
FULUIE TNCOME tAX CXPCIISE. . .uvevventieeietieetetiesteeteetesteesaesseessesseessesseessesssensesssenseassenseasseseansesseensesseensesseensesssensenseens (28,904)
FULUIE NET CASI TTOWS ...ttt e et e e e e et e e e e e e e e e e s eeaaateeeeesenaaeeeeeseneaneeeeas 107,510
10% annual discount for estimated timing 0f cash fIOWS ..........ccoviiiiiiiiiiiiccceeee e (29,751)
Standardized measure of discounted future net cash flOWS .......cc..oooiiiiiiiiiiic e $ 77,759

Changes in Standardized Measure of Discounted Future Net Cash Flows
Principle changes in the standardized measure of discounted future net cash flows attributable to the Company’s proved oil and
natural gas reserves are as follows.

(in thousands) 2021
Standardized measure at December 31, 2020 ........ccoviiiorieeeeee e $ 31,330
Net change in prices and ProdUCTION COSES. ........iiuiiruiiieiirtieieeiett ettt ettt et e bt eteesee et eneeeeeeneeseeenees 67,058
Net change in future deVEIOPIMENT COSS .....iiviiiiriiiiiiiieiietiete et ettt erte et ste et e st eeaesteesaeeseesseeseesseeseessesseessesseessesseas (85)
Sales of oil and natural gas, net of production EXPEISES .........cceeeririrriririrtintenienteteteeetee ettt (22,098)
2 7S] 1153 o) OO U RO PTUSTPRRURRPONt 104
Revisions of previous qUANILY ESHIMALES. ......ccueeiertieierieierteeteeteetesteetesteesesteeseesaesseesaeseessesseessesseessesseessessesssens 17,754
INEE CRAINZE 10 TAXES ...veeueieiieee ettt etttk e ekt e ettt et e e st e et e st e st esee st em e e st ems e s e emse st enseeseenseeneensesneenseeneenseennenseas (14,604)
ACCTEHION OF QISCOUINT.....uvvviiiiiii ettt ettt e et e e et e e et eeeeaeeesenaeeeenteeeeneseeeenaeesenseesenaseesnnseesanneeeanns 3,759
Changes in timMING AN OtNET ..........oiuiiieiiieieiieie ettt st e st e beesa e beessesseesseeseenseeseensesneensenns (5,459)
Standardized measure at DecemDbBEr 31, 2021 .....evviiiiiiiieiee ettt e e et e e e e eeaaes $ 77,759
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.
Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures

Based on an evaluation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)),
our Chief Executive Officer and Controller have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of
December 31, 2021.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended
December 31, 2021 that have materially affected, or that are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management of Biglari Holdings Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as such term is defined in the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision of our principal
executive officer and principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 as required by the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 Rule 13a-15(c). In
making this assessment, we used the criteria set forth in the framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013)
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on our evaluation under the
framework in Internal Control—Integrated Framework (2013), our management concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 has been audited by Deloitte &
Touche LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Biglari Holdings Inc.
February 26, 2022

Item 9B. Other Information

None.
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Part 111
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
Item 11. Executive Compensation
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services
The information required by Part III Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 will be contained in the Company’s definitive proxy statement

for its 2022 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, to be filed on or before April 30, 2022, and such information is incorporated
herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this
report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 26, 2022.

BiGLARI HOLDINGS INC.

By: /s/ BRUCE LEWIS

Bruce Lewis
Controller

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated, on February 26, 2022.

Signature Title
/s/ SARDAR BIGLARI Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)
Sardar Biglari
/s/ BRUCE LEWIS Controller (Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

Bruce Lewis

/s/ JOHN G. CARDWELL

John G. Cardwell

/s/ PHILIP COOLEY

Philip Cooley

/s KENNETH R. COOPER

Kenneth R. Cooper

/s/ RUTH J. PERSON

Ruth J. Person

/sy EDMUND B. CAMPBELL, III

Edmund B. Campbell, III

Director

Director - Vice Chairman

Director

Director

Director

72



